

## Journal of Membrane Science & Research

journal homepage: www.msrjournal.com

Review Paper

## Production of Green Hydrogen Employing Proton Exchange Membrane Water Electrolyzer: Characterization of Electrolyte Membrane. A Critical Review

Zineb Hammi<sup>1</sup>, Najoua Labjar<sup>1,\*</sup>, El Mostapha Lotfi<sup>1</sup>, Souad El Hajjaji<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Laboratory of Molecular Spectroscopy Modelling, Materials, Nanomaterials, Water and Environment, CERNE2D, ENSAM, Mohammed V University in Rabat, Morocco

<sup>2</sup> Laboratory of Molecular Spectroscopy Modelling, Materials, Nanomaterials, Water and Environment, CERNE2D, Faculty of Science, Mohammed V University in Rabat, Morocco

# Article info

Received2022-12-05 Revised 2023-03-13 Accepted2023-03-26 Available online2023-03-26

# Keywords

Green hydrogen Water electrolysis Proton exchange membrane Hybrid membranes Proton conductivity Degradation mechanism

# Highlights

- Green hydrogen is essential for the development and success of renewable energy, the energy transition, and the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions.
- The development of proton exchange membrane water electrolyzer technology will accelerate the production and use of green hydrogen.
- This review offers a complete description of the solid electrolyte which is in the form of a membrane.

# Graphical abstract



# Abstract

In the framework of developing renewable energies and reducing greenhouse gas emissions, green hydrogen has become a crucial factor in the energy revolution. This energy vector can be manufactured from biomass, biogas reforming, or by splitting water, which is one of the most abundant and limitless power generators on earth. Proton exchange membrane water electrolysis (PEMWE) has gained considerable attention as an energy conversion system for hydrogen production. It is considered the preferred choice for green hydrogen production owing to its energy efficiency, low capital cost, flexibility, safety, and durability. The membrane is the beating heart of the PEMWE electrolysis cell. The most used PEM membrane is perfluorosulfonic acid (PFSA) membranes, especially Nafion. However, these membranes have weaknesses that affect production efficiency. Therefore, developing membranes is crucial to improve and enhance the working temperature, optimize mass transportation, avoid catalyst corrosion and electrode flooding, boost effectiveness, and minimize the system's price and complexity. To design high-temperature functioning membranes, modifications to conventional ones include adding various hygroscopic inorganic particles or creating original polymer systems. This work begins with generalities about green hydrogen production using PEMWE. In this section, we will describe the functioning and diverse cell operating parameters, followed by the role and functioning of different components. In the second part, we provide a comprehensive description of the PEMWE membrane, including detailed statements on classification, essential transport phenomena, and the degradation and durability of this electrolyte. Finally, we will conclude with a comparison between commercial membranes and those under development.

© 2023 FIMTEC & MPRL. All rights reserved.

Membrane

## Contents

1. Introduction	2
2. Production of green hydrogen	3
2.1.Component and general operating principle of PEMWE	3
2.2. Thermodynamic aspects	4
2.3.PEM water electrolyzer performance	5
2.4.Electrochemical aspects	5
2.5.Main advantages and disadvantages	6
3. Proton exchange membrane	6
3.1.Classification of membranes	7
3.1.1. Perfluorinated membranes	7
3.1.2. Modified Perfluorinated membranes	8
3.1.3. Non - Perfluorinated membranes	8
3.1.4. Hybrid membranes	9
3.1.5. Membrane based on biomass	9
3.2. Essential transport phenomenon	10
3.2.1. Water transport	10
3.2.2. Proton conductivity	10
3.2.3. Ion transport	11
3.3. Degradation and durability	11
3.3.1. Mechanical and thermal deterioration	11
3.3.2. Chemical / electrochemical degradation	11
3.3.3. Perspectives	12
4. Discussion	12
5. Conclusion	12
CRedit authorship contribution statement	12
Funding sources	12
Declaration of Competing Interest	13
References	13

#### 1. Introduction

The process of climate change known as "global warming" is defined by an overall rise in average temperatures, something that durably alters meteorological balances and ecosystems. The main cause of this phenomenon is the industrial revolution. We have developed, all over the planet, machines, and technologies that consume a lot of energy to operate, using wood, coal, oil, and gas. By burning all these resources to produce energy, greenhouse gases are being released into the atmosphere at an increasing rate, day by day. Hence, we have disrupted the normal balance of the planet. As a result, the climate is warming up.

Hydrogen or green gas is a new perspective, which will revolutionize the future of the energy sector, not only in terms of electricity storage but also in industrial terms.

As an abundant element, hydrogen is essentially found in many natural substances such as fresh water, sea water, biomass... Unfortunately, it is not present in its purest form (H<sub>2</sub> molecule), and as a result, is unable to be utilized directly. Its recovery requires production processes and the metamorphosis of raw materials. The three main production processes are biomass, biogas, and water molecule dissociation including electrolysis using renewable energy sources without greenhouse gas emissions. First, H<sub>2</sub> production from biomass uses organic materials such as crop residues, agricultural waste, food waste, paper waste, wood waste, green waste, and other organic matter. Manufacturing can be achieved through several pathways, including gasification, fermentation, pyrolysis, and biological electrolysis. This type of production from biomass offers sustainability advantages and greenhouse gas emission reductions compared to methods from fossil fuels. However, there are technical and economic challenges to overcome for this method to be widely used on a large scale. [1–5]

Second, the process of manufacturing  $H_2$  from biogas involves two main steps: first, biogas is resulting from the anaerobic fermentation of organic material, microorganisms break down organic matter and produce biogas, which consists predominantly of carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) and methane (CH<sub>4</sub>). After that, the methane in biogas is separated from CO<sub>2</sub> and is then converted to hydrogen using steam reforming. However, the production of hydrogen from biogas can be expensive and requires capital investment. [5–7]

With the methodology of  $H_2O$  dissociation,  $H_2$  can be created from one of the most plentiful and limitless basic elements on the planet: water. The hydrogen created will be the cleanest energy carrier that can be produced and used by humanity when the necessary energy input is supplied from renewable energy sources. This process of dissociation of water involves the breaking of O-H bonds, but these bonds are the most energetic ones due to the great difference in electronegativity between oxygen and hydrogen. Nevertheless, many ways are possible to break down the water molecule. These can be grouped into two families; direct thermolysis which is based on the one-step thermal dissociation of water. [8] Although the thermolysis of water is conceptually simple, it is one of the most complicated processes in terms of industrial realization, due to the difficulties in separating hydrogen and oxygen to avoid explosions, a high-temperature heat source exceeding 2500 K must be used to produce a reasonable level of dissociation. The second thermal way of manufacturing  $H_2$  is through multi-step thermochemical cycles that have been proposed and developed as a repetitive set of interactions in which  $H_2O$  is decomposed at temperatures below 2000°C [8–11].

The final process of manufacturing is electrolysis, which converts water  $(H_2O)$  into hydrogen  $(H_2)$  and oxygen  $(O_2)$  gases using electricity generated by environmentally friendly sources like solar or wind energy. This process involves the use of an electrolyzer, which is a mechanism containing two electrodes separated by a water-permeable membrane. There are several types, including alkaline electrolysis, in which an alkaline solution of potassium or sodium hydroxide is used as the electrolyte. Polymer electrolyte membrane (PEM) electrolysis uses a solid polymer electrolyte membrane that allows only positively charged protons to pass through it [12]. The electrodes are typically made of platinum or other noble metals. Solid oxide electrolysis (SOE) uses a solid oxide electrolyte typically made of ceramic materials. It operates at high temperatures (800-1000°C) and produces both hydrogen and carbon monoxide, which is a raw substance that can be used to synthesize other chemicals. Finally, photoelectrochemical (PEC) is the new generation. In PEC water splitting, a semiconductor material is used as the electrode, which absorbs light energy and converts it into electrical energy to drive the water-splitting reaction [13-18].

Each type of water electrolysis is distinguished by both positive and negative aspects depending on the specific application and requirements. However, at the theoretical level, several studies indicate that Proton Exchange Membrane Water Electrolyzers (PEMWEs) is the most efficient option for renewable hydrogen manufacturing [12–14]. This is due to their high energy efficiency, fast response to electrical load changes, safety, and low carbon emissions. PEM electrolyzers typically have an energy efficiency

ranging from 70% to 80%, allowing them to produce  $H_2$  using less electrical energy than other types of electrolyzers [12]. Even at the experimental level, this type of electrolyzer is often recommended for manufacturing at the laboratory level due to its energy efficiency and safety. Additionally, PEM electrolyzers do not produce dangerous oxygen or explosive gases, which makes them safer to use, they also have a relatively small footprint and can be easily integrated into existing laboratory facilities. They are also lightweight and portable, making it easy to move to different parts of the laboratory as needed. Finally, PEMWEs can produce hydrogen on demand, which is particularly useful for laboratory applications where precise amounts of hydrogen are needed. By combining these advantages, it is clear that PEM electrolyzers are a very interesting option for hydrogen production at the laboratory level [19–23].

The development and optimization of PEMWE is a highly active research area, with significant advancements in materials, design, and system integration in recent years. However, there are still several research gaps and challenges to increase the effectiveness, durability, and scalability of PEMWE. Characterization of the electrolyte membrane is a major research field that requires further attention [24, 25].

The electrolyte membrane plays a critical and crucial role, the characteristics such as proton conductivity, chemical stability, mechanical strength, and water uptake, can have an important effect on the PEMWE's potency and robustness. Despite the importance of the electrolyte membrane, there are still several research gaps in the characterization and optimization of this component. For example, it's important to clearly understand the origins of deterioration and performance limitations of different types of electrolyte membranes under different operational circumstances, including high current densities and high temperatures [24, 25]. In the interests of improving the functionality and longevity of electrolyte membranes, new types of polymers must also be provided, and design approaches should be updated to modify the membrane's physical properties.

Therefore, a critical review of the description of electrolyte membranes would provide a comprehensive analysis of the current state-of-the-art and identify the key research gaps in this domain to inform future research directions and guide the development. This essay aims to discuss and examine the functioning of PEMWE to produce green hydrogen. More specifically, in the first part, this review will provide a general idea about the functioning, components, thermodynamic and electrochemical aspects of the electrolytic cell. Subsequently, we will focus on the crucial component of the electrolytic cell, which is the solid electrolyte. We will start by classifying the different types of membranes and discussing the essential transport phenomena, degradation, and durability. After that, we will propose a series of current and future challenges tentatively.

## 2. Production of green hydrogen

Since its inception, the transition to green hydrogen has been challenging due to the absence of molecular hydrogen in the natural environment. Instead, it must be produced by dissociating the H<sub>2</sub>O water molecule. Currently, the main technique used to generate hydrogen is the steam reforming of natural gas or other fossil fuels. The critical and major inconvenience of this process is the generation of carbonic gases, such as carbon monoxide, that have a high carbon content. Yet, the electrochemical decomposition of the molecule of water into hydrogen and oxygen provides high-quality hydrogen. Electrolyzers using proton exchange membranes (PEMs) have considerable potential for the generation of hydrogen, they are compact, electrically efficient, produce very pure hydrogen (with little to no pollution from the electrolyte), require little maintenance, and can be fueled by electricity generated from sources of clean energy. Water electrolysis is the subject of scientific study in the context of the development of green hydrogen. General Electric (GE) adopted a solid polymer electrolyte concept to develop the first water electrolyzer [26]. Grubb later employed a solid sulfonated polystyrene membrane as the electrolyte [26]. The fact that an acidic solid is utilized as an electrolyte instead of a liquid gave rise to the name (PEM) for this novel technology. The operating temperature is around 50-80°C for pressures of 10 to 200 bar, and its efficiency reaches 85% [12, 27, 28]. Unfortunately, there hasn't been enough study on PEM electrolysis during the previous century, and therefore, there are still many problems and challenges to overcome.

#### 2.1. Component and general operating principle of PEMWE

A variety of components constitute an electrolysis cell, and they all work together to ensure that the oxidation-reduction reaction that electrolysis uses to create hydrogen and oxygen proceeds as intended. The polymer electrolyte configuration is the crucial element of the system, as it represents the main site of hydrogen production. The essential components of this assembly are illustrated in Fig. 1.

*PEM membrane*: a proton exchange membrane separates the anode and cathode, the electrolyte is an ion exchange membrane of the Nafion® type, a polymer created in the 1950s. This electrolyzer named PEMWE is distinguished by the fact that it uses an extremely thin (20-300 micrometers), gas-tight, and strongly acidic polymer membrane as an electrolyte, which contains sulfonic functional groups (R-SO<sub>3</sub>H) that are responsible for the ion exchange mechanism. In the second part, we will discuss this membrane in more detail [29–31].

*Electrodes*: A PEMWE cell has two electrodes: an anode and a cathode. These electrodes must be porous while maintaining sufficient electronic conductivity to ensure proper electronic transfers. Each electrode is the site of an electrochemical reaction and is directly connected to a current collector. Because the reactions that take place are different, the materials that make up the electrodes are also different. The electrodes consist of a layer of catalytic material (catalysts + ionomer) and a diffusion layer [32–34].

Transport diffusion layers: They are in the form of an additional porous layer that is placed against each of the electrodes with a thickness of 100 to 300 µm. Specifically, carbon fiber is used at the cathode and a titanium disc at the anode [32-34]. In addition to eliminating the oxygen generated by the reaction, they assist in transferring the reactant H2O by capillary action from the bipolar plates to the catalytic zone. However, the PEM electrolyzer system can function inadequately due to incorrect oxygen evacuation and concentration in the PTL and the pores of the catalytic layer [28, 35]. Such an accumulation of oxygen can damage the water transport across the PTL, resulting in the dehydration of the polymer and affecting the Oxygen Evolution Process (OER). It should be noted that water also removes excess heat within the electrolyzer. Along with the described mass transfer, the porous transport layer should ensure that the catalytic layer and the bipolar plate have sufficient electrical contact for the electrons to migrate to the cathode, where protons interact to produce  $H_2[28, 34-37]$ . The role of transport diffusion layers is twofold: to ensure good electronic conduction between the bipolar plates and the catalytic layer, and to allow a correct supply of water while allowing the dioxygen and dihydrogen bubbles to be evacuated. Typically, carbon is used for the cathode section as a diffusion layer and titanium for the negative side.

There are two types of plates [38]: sintered PTLs, which are in the form of a porous layer obtained by thermal sintering of titanium beads, and regular PTLs, which are titanium grids covered with a microporous layer to facilitate the transport of material. Sintered PTLs have three sub-categories according to the shape of the particles used: irregular particles, spherical particles, and titanium fibers. The diameter of the pores varies between 10  $\mu$ m and 100  $\mu$ m and their porosity is between 20% and 60% [38–40]. The diameter of the pores for regular PTLs is greater than approximately 150  $\mu$ m. The advantage of regular PTLs is their low cost compared to those made by sintering. Nevertheless, they risk degrading the catalytic layer due to thick fibers and increasing the ohmic resistance due to large pores [38–42].

Bipolar plates: are expensive components, contributing around 48% of the overall cost of a PEMWE [43]. They have a dual function of supplying current and ensuring the evacuation of produced gases, as well as transporting water. At the heart of an electrolysis stack, they ensure the mechanical strength of the stack while isolating the cells from each other to avoid mixing the produced reactants and acting as excellent conductors of heat and electrons. The choice of materials is delicate due to the challenging conditions to which these plates are exposed (high potential and acidic environment). Currently, metals such as stainless steel, titanium, graphite, coated stainless steel, copper plates, and other nitride-based alloys are used to make these plates, but none of these materials are inexpensive and all suffer from several operational problems [43-45]. Excellent electrical conductivity, resistance to corrosion, great mechanical strength, and low weight are all characteristics of titanium. However, it is an expensive material, difficult to machine, and characterized by the formation of a surface oxide layer [46], which decreases cell performance over time after prolonged use and adversely affects its electrical and thermal conductivity. When hydrogen is produced, titanium bipolar plates on the cathode side can become hydrogen embrittled, causing the formation of hydrides  $(T_iH_2)$  on the plate surface [46–48]. This occurs when the titanium material's solubility limit for hydrogen is surpassed (a few hundred ppm), increasing the risk of stress cracking [46]. Titanium becomes prone to corrosion when subjected to hydrogen gas at extreme heat (>80°C)

attributable to the apparition of hydrides in the crystal structure. Additionally, the high-pressure hydrogen resulting from the reduction activities facilitates hydrogen absorption in the metal bipolar plates [49]. To limit this damage, the separator plates can be coated with gold or platinum, guaranteeing their durability and limiting oxidation by avoiding the formation of the oxide layer; however, this increases the cost [47]. In contrast, graphite has been explored due to its high conductivity, but its usage is hindered by its low mechanical strength, high rate of corrosion, manufacturing difficulties, and extremely high cost. Due to its low mechanical strength, a thicker material is required, which raises ohmic resistance. Furthermore, due to the high rates of corrosion, current collectors are not in good contact with them. The high cost of titanium and graphite motivates research and development of less expensive base metals. These alternative base metals are often coated to shield them from harsh conditions in an electrolysis cell. Stainless steel is among the most economical choices, but it also has some disadvantages. Due to the corrosive acidic atmosphere, it corrodes extremely quickly, requiring a coating to maintain tolerable longevity. Nevertheless, it is challenging to apply a coating that satisfies the requirements of this environment since doing so typically increases ohmic resistance, and tiny coating flaws can degrade the underlying metal, preventing corrosion protection [43-49]. The morphology of the bipolar plates is critical in defining the performance of an electrochemical cell. These distributors can consist of channels machined into the bipolar plates, ensuring a uniform distribution of the reagents on the electrodes, and guaranteeing optimal use of their active surface. Different geometries of fluid circulation channels can be defined [47-49].



Fig. 1. Component of a PEMWE system. Source: Authors

The general operating principle of PEMWE (Fig. 2) can be described in the following steps: first, demineralized water, there is no electrolytic additive is fed into the electrolyzer unit, then when a sufficiently high electrical potential is applied across the anode and cathode, an electric field is generated across the PEM [12]. The splitting of the water molecules into hydrogen and oxygen ions is catalyzed by this electric field. The hydrogen ions (protons H<sup>+</sup>) are then clearly directed via the PEM to the cathode, while the oxygen ions combine to generate oxygen gas at the anode. Protons are selectively permitted to pass through the PEM to the cathode while hydroxide ions are inhibited. The following equation indicates that on the positive side, protons combine with electrons from the external circuit to generate hydrogen gas. [13, 28]:

At the cathode: 
$$2H^+ + 2e^- \rightarrow H_{2(g)}$$
 (1)

At the anode: 
$$H_2O_{(1)} \rightarrow 1/2 O_{2(g)} + 2H^+ + 2e^-$$
 (2)

Hydrogen gas is captured and kept in storage for usage in a variety of industrial and fuel cell activities, among other things.

The PEMWE system's overall performance is influenced by several factors, including the voltage and current applied, the quality of the water used, the temperature and pressure of the system, and the design of the electrolyzer unit. Higher voltage and current will generally result in higher hydrogen production rates, but also higher energy consumption. The quality of the water used can also impact the system efficiency, as impurities in the water can lead to electrode degradation and reduced system performance.



Fig. 2. Operating principle of a PEMWE cell. Source: Authors

## 2.2. Thermodynamic aspects

In the case of PEMWE, the thermodynamic analysis helps to understand the energy requirements and efficiencies of the hydrogen production process. From a thermodynamic perspective, the dissociation of the water molecule while electrolysis is an endothermic, not a spontaneous, reaction, it is then necessary to bring energy to realize it. According to the first principle, the Gibbs-Helmholtz equation represents the enthalpy of the reaction and the minimal energy required for dissociation:

$$\Delta r(T,P) = \Delta r G(T,P) + T \Delta r S(T,P)$$

$$= Welec + O$$
(3)

• Enthalpy variation  $\Delta(T,P)$ : the total energy needed to initiate the electrolysis process.

• Gibbs free energy variation  $\Delta(T,P)$ : the level of electrical energy required for the water dissociation.

• Variation of entropy  $T\Delta(T,P)$ : the quantity of thermal energy required to separate the molecule of water.

The operational temperature and pressure impact these values. At standard conditions,  $T^{\circ} = 298$  K and  $P^{\circ} = 1$  bar : [50–57]  $\Delta r H^{\circ} = 285.840 \ kJmol^{-1}$  $\Delta r S^{\circ} = 0.16315 \ kJmol^{-1} K^{-1}$  $\Delta r G^{\circ} = 237.22 \ kJmol^{-1}$ 

- The quantity of electrical energy necessary for the electrolysis of water procedure is used to determine the reversible voltage  $E_{rev}[V]$ , which represents the theoretical voltage required to be delivered between the two electrodes to generate the activity of dissociation : [50–57]

$$E_{rev} = \frac{\Delta r G}{nF} \tag{4}$$

with

*F* Faraday constant ( $= 96\ 485\ Cmol^{-1}$ )

quantity of electrons that were transferred during the reaction. For water electrolyzer n = 2.

- Thus, the enthalpy variation  $\Delta rH$  allows us to define the thermoneutral voltage *Ethe*[V]which corresponds to the isothermal operation of the electrolyzes: [53–56]

$$E_{thr} = \frac{\Delta r H}{nF} \tag{5}$$

- The thermo-neutral voltage refers to the electrical voltage that must be applied to the electrolytic device to make the electrolysis reaction possible from a thermodynamic perspective, the potential  $E_{ther}$  is applied to carry out the electrolysis under the adiabatic conditions. In other words, the is the intensity that conforms to be applied to the cell for it to generate the reaction's necessary heat ether. Under standard conditions  $T^{\circ} = 298 \text{ K}$  and  $P^{\circ} = 1 \text{ bar}$ , these two voltages are worth:

$$E^{\circ}_{rev} \approx 1,23 V, \quad E^{\circ}_{ther} \approx 1,48 V$$

An additional voltage corresponding to  $T\Delta rS/2F$  (0.25 V) should be applied in addition to the thermodynamic potential to ensure the decomposition reaction of the molecule water [51].

The practical or real tension of the  $V_{real}$  system is considered as the sum of the reversible of the  $E_{rev}$  cell, the voltage drops R\*I through the ohmic

resistance, and the activation and concentration surges at the level of the positives and negatives electrodes. The voltage is then calculated according to the following relation: [53–57]

$$V_{real} = E_{rev} + \eta_{act} + \eta_{conc} + \eta_{ohm}$$
 (6)

with:

- -

Erev: reversible voltage (V)

 $\eta_{act}$ : activation overvoltage (V)

 $\eta_{conc}$ : mass transport overvoltage (V)

η<sub>ohm</sub>: ohmic overvoltage (V)

Once an electrical charge is applied to a PEMWE cell, the voltage at its terminals V<sub>real</sub> is defined as a function of Erev. However, in practice, the operation of an electrolyzer is subject to certain losses which will contribute

to the increase of the cell voltage, they are classified into three groups according to their origin: activation overvoltages, ohmic overvoltages, and material transport or concentration overvoltages [50-57].

The activation overvoltage: the beginning and the execution of an electrolytic process at the surface of each electrode requires and requires the crossing of an energetic barrier called activation energy, which ensures the transfer of charge to the electrodes.

The distribution and application of the catalyst, its structure, the structure of the electrode, the functioning heat, and the positioning of the active reaction site are all physical and chemical properties that influence the power losses. [50–58]

The difference between the two sides provides the activation overvoltage of the cell according to the following reaction:

$$\eta_{act} = \eta_{act}{}^a - \eta_{act}{}^c \tag{7}$$

The anode activation overvoltage is higher than the cathode overvoltage since the kinetics of water oxidation (oxygen production) is much faster than hydrogen reduction. The anode activation overvoltage is counted positively  $(\eta_{act} a \ge 0)$  while the cathode activation overvoltage is counted negatively ( $_{t}c$ < 0 ).

Since OER is a much slower and more complex reaction than HER, the total activation overvoltage will be mainly controlled by the activation overvoltage due to OER [55-56].

$$\eta^{a} = \frac{RT}{\alpha_{a}nF} \ln(\frac{i}{i_{a,0}}), \eta^{c} = \frac{RT}{\alpha_{c}nF} \ln(\frac{i}{i_{c,0}})$$
(8)

Mass transport/concentration overvoltage: considering that the Water's dissociation mechanism to produce hydrogen occurs exclusively at the membrane-electrode boundary, the porous electrode serves as the conduit via which all mass flows: first, H<sub>2</sub>O is transferred to the catalyst layer by flow channels crossing PTLs, second, the produced reactants which are hydrogen and oxygen are then transferred to the outlet through the flow channels.

However, these losses evolve by the accumulation of gases on the active layers and/or by limiting water circulation in the diffusion layers. The formation of bubbles of dihydrogen and dioxygen during water electrolysis also contributes to the increase in material transport losses [55-59]. Using the Nernst equation, these parameters at the two electrodes could be determined as follows: [58]

$$\eta_{conc} = \frac{RT_a}{4F} \ln(\frac{C_{O_2,m}}{C_{O_2,m_0}}) + \frac{RT_c}{2F} \ln(\frac{C_{H_2,m}}{C_{H_2,m_0}})$$
(9)

where  $CO_{2,0}$  and  $CH_{2,m_0}$  indicate the concentrations of the reactants  $O_2$  et  $H_2$ , respectively, at the MEA interface according to the working conditions.

Ohmic overvoltage: the ohmic overvoltage is a result of ohmic losses that occur inside the cell, including electrical losses brought on by the resistance of different components. Nevertheless, at the membrane level, ionic losses are the predominant ohmic losses [58].

Ohm's law is maintained by the ohmic surge, which is directly correlated with the applied current I, which can be determined by the equation shown below:

$$\eta_{ohm} = R * I \tag{10}$$

As a result of the different voltages explained above, there are three types of operation:

 $V_{real} = E_{the}$ : no heat exchange with the environment, i.e., the . necessary heat is contributed by the internal irreversibility of the reaction.

 $\text{Erev} < V_{\text{real}} < E_{the}$ : need to use an external heat source because the

irreversibility does not compensate for the heat needed to dissociate the water.  $V_{real} > E_{ther}$ : the electrolyze must be cooled because there is excess . heat due to the reaction.

In conclusion, the thermodynamic aspects of PEMWE have an important function in understanding the energy requirements and efficiencies of the H<sub>2</sub> production process. The thermodynamic analysis helps to determine the minimum voltage required to drive the PEMWE process, as well as the maximum thermodynamic efficiency that can be achieved. The actual voltage required and the efficiency of PEMWE depend on various factors such as electrode overpotentials, membrane resistance, temperature, and pressure.

## 2.3. PEM water electrolyzer performance

The h yield is a technical parameter that is usually specified with values between 0 and 1 or 0% and 100%. The electrolyzer is a process that is based on an electric current, it is then characterized by energy efficiency, and electricity is faradic [54-59].

- Energy efficiency

The h energy efficiency is characterized as the percentage of the voltage  $E_{ther}$  and the amount of real energy needed  $V_{real}$ . In this case, the yield is calculated in relation to the change in enthalpy  $\Delta r H$  associated with Ether:

$$h_{ener} = \frac{E_{ther}}{V_{real}} \tag{11}$$

- Electrical Efficiency

Electrical efficiency is associated with  $E_{rev}$ , it is calculated by:

$$h_{elec} = \frac{E_{rev}}{V_{real}} \tag{12}$$

According to the following equation, this electrical efficiency can be evaluated as the proportion of chemical energy produced W<sub>H2</sub> to electrical energy needed Wel: [54, 58]

$$h_{elec} = \frac{W_{H_2}}{W_{elec}} = \frac{N_{\dot{H}_2} H_v}{v_{real} * i * t}$$
(13)

where NH is the molar amount of H<sub>2</sub> generated, H<sub>V</sub> is the heat, and V<sub>real</sub> represents the cellular potential.

## - Faradic efficiency

This p yield relates the theoretical quantity of reagents and the quantity of gas produced by the electrolyzer. It can then be expressed for hydrogen and oxygen according to the following reaction: [54-58]

$$h_{F_{H_2}} = \frac{2FN_{\dot{H_2}}}{i}, h_{F_{o_2}} = \frac{4FN_{\dot{o}_2}}{i}$$
(14)

where  $NH_2$  and  $NO_2[mol/s]$ : the molar flows of hydrogen and oxygen produced by the electrolyzer.

The total faradic yield is then defined by multiplying the two yields:

$$h_{\rm T} = h_{\rm FH} * h_{\rm FO} \tag{15}$$

#### 2.4. Electrochemical aspects

The theoretical thermodynamic potentials of the two catalytic electrodes (anode\cathode) are determined by the Nernst relation according to the chemical compounds involved in the two half-equations (1,2). The water oxidation reaction happens under the effect of the electric field. After traversing the membrane, the protons are transformed at the cathode to form dihydrogen [56-59]

#### At the anode

$$E_{(O_2/H_2)} = E^{\circ}_{(O_2/H_2o)} + \frac{RT}{nF} \ln(\frac{(a_{H^{\circ}})^4(a_{O_2})}{(a_{H_2O})^2})$$
(16)

At the cathode

$$E_{(H^+/H_2)} = E^{\circ}_{(H^+/H_2)} + \frac{RT}{nF} \ln(\frac{(a_{H^+})^4}{(a_{H^+})^2})$$
(17)

with:

R: the perfect gas constant (8,314 J mol<sup>-1</sup> K<sup>-1</sup>).

T: temperature in K.

F: Faraday constant (96 485 C mol<sup>-1</sup>),

 $a_x$ : the activity of chemical species x, for liquid phase water, the activity  $aH_2O$  is 1.

For gases, the activity is determined from the partial pressure  $P_x$  and the total standard pressure  $P_0$ .

 $a_{\rm x} = P_{\rm x}/P_0$ 

n: the number of electrons implicated in the half-oxidation  $\$  reduction reactions.

## 2.5. Main advantages and disadvantages of PEM water electrolyzer

Polymer electrolyte membrane water electrolyzer (PEMWE) has numerous benefits over other water electrolysis systems. The use of a polymer membrane as an electrolyte provides several advantages over other types of electrolytes. One of the primary advantages is the process of managing pure hydrogen, which is essential for many industrial and scientific applications. The membrane-electrode assemblies are thin, flexible, and easy to handle, which makes the system more compact and easier to install. Furthermore, the system can operate at high pressure without the need for a hydrogen compressor, reducing the system's expense and complexity. This is because the use of a solid electrolyte permits pressure changes between the anode and cathode without affecting the system's functionality [12, 26, 58].

In addition to the benefits mentioned above, PEMWE can also operate at very high current levels (in the range of several A/cm<sup>2</sup>) with excellent energy yields. The ionic charge carriers remain confined within the membrane, which prevents contamination of the products and maximizes the efficiency of the system. PEMWE also allows for high-pressure operation without the need for a hydrogen compressor. This reduces the complexity of the system and makes it easier to operate and maintain. The high-pressure operation of PEMWE is particularly advantageous for laboratory-scale experiments that require precise pressure control. Another advantage of PEMWE for laboratory-scale applications is the ability to operate at very high current levels with excellent energy yields. This allows laboratory researchers to carry out experiments that require high levels of energy input without compromising the system's efficiency or performance [12, 26–30, 58].

So far, despite all PEMWE's benefits, one of the major weaknesses is its high cost. The materials used as catalysts, as well as those used in the bipolar plates and current collectors, must resist the acidic environment caused by using a Nafion membrane. Only noble metals, such as platinum, rhodium, and palladium, which are rare and expensive, can resist these types of conditions. Furthermore, PEMWE requires highly deionized water for the operation to avoid the penetration of metallic impurities via ion-exchange processes. Deionization and purification of water are costly processes, and insufficient water purification may necessitate expensive repair procedures. These factors contribute to the overall cost of the PEMWE system and limit its widespread adoption [12],[26]–[30],[58].

Hydrogen production through (PEMWE) is generally considered a safe and efficient process. However, hydrogen crossover can present a significant challenge in the context of high-performance applications that use thin membranes. Hydrogen crossover occurs when hydrogen gas passes through the membrane into the anode chamber, where it can accumulate in confined spaces and potentially react with oxygen to create an explosive atmosphere [59]. The risk of hydrogen crossover is exacerbated by the properties of hydrogen, which is odorless, colorless, and highly flammable. If left unchecked, hydrogen crossover can compromise the safety and efficiency of the PEMWE process, as well as pose a risk to personnel and equipment. Many safety precautions and measures may be performed to minimize the possibility of hydrogen crossover. For example, gas detectors can be installed to monitor the concentration of hydrogen in the anode chamber, and appropriate pressure control mechanisms can be used to reduce the risk of leaks and explosions. Researchers have also created coverings made of polymers or nanoparticles that can slow down the membrane's absorption of hydrogen. These coatings can be applied to the surface of the membrane or incorporated into the membrane itself, providing an additional layer of protection against hydrogen crossover [60-62].

In conclusion, although the risk of hydrogen crossover cannot be eliminated in PEMWE, appropriate safety measures can significantly reduce the risk and ensure safe and efficient hydrogen production. By implementing these measures, it is possible to minimize the risk of hydrogen crossover and ensure that the production and storage of hydrogen are carried out safely and efficiently.

#### 3. Proton exchange membrane (PEM)

PEMWE and PEMFC (Proton Exchange Membrane Fuel Cell) are both electrochemical devices, PEMFC is a fuel cell that employs hydrogen gas and oxygen obtained from the atmosphere to create electricity, whereas PEMWE is an electrolysis device that uses electrical energy to split water into hydrogen and oxygen gases. Both technologies use a selective membrane (PEM) to facilitate the transfer of protons between the anode and cathode sides of the cell, but there are some key differences between the PEM membrane used in each technology [28, 35–37].

The membrane in the two technologies is typically made from a fluorinated polymer such as Nafion, but for the PEMWE it is typically thicker and more durable than the membrane used in a PEMFC, this is because the water electrolysis process requires a higher voltage than a fuel cell, which can cause more wear and tear on the membrane. A thicker membrane helps to increase durability and prevent degradation over time. Additionally, the membrane used in a must be more durable than the membrane used in a PEMFC, because of the degradation over time due to the harsh chemical conditions, such as the presence of oxygen and chlorine[28, 35–37].

One of the challenges with using a PEM in a fuel cell is preventing the anode and cathode compartments from transferring gas. This happens when hydrogen or other gases permeate from the negative electrode through the membrane to the cathodic sites, which can degrade the cell's efficiency.

The solid electrolyte used in PEM electrolysis is situated at the cell's midsection in the form of a proton exchange membrane. This polymer membrane typically has a thickness that varies between 150-200  $\mu$ m [63, 64] and is the key component of PEMWE. The membrane plays a crucial role in PEM cells, serving two distinct purposes: ensuring the transfer of H<sup>+</sup> and guaranteeing the separation of gases formed on both sides. The properties required for an effective membrane to act as a barrier while allowing the passage of ions include the following [32, 37, 63, 64]:

- Excellent chemical, mechanical, and electrochemical endurance, as well as robustness under the environmental conditions of the electrolysis system.
- Strong ionic conductivity and permeability to tolerate voltage levels with minimal resistive losses and eradicate electron transport.
- 3. Thermal and hydrolytic resistance.
- Chemical characteristics that satisfy the requirements for the electrodemembrane assembly MEA.
- 5. Low susceptibility to reactive species to increase effectiveness.
- 6. High durability and low cost.
- The capacity of proton exchange membranes to absorb water, which affects both the hydromechanical stability and electrochemical activity is one of the most crucial properties.

The membranes used in the production of electrolysis cells are exclusively perfluorosulfonic acid membranes (PFSA). They are made of a perfluoro sulfonate material containing a hydrophobic polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) type backbone and a perfluorinated side chain terminated by a hydrophilic sulphonic SO<sub>3</sub>H group [65].

Several polymers, such as Fumapem, Flemion, and Aciplex, are used due to their high robustness, high performance, strong oxidative resistance, dimensional stability with temperature fluctuations, strong durability, and high proton conductivity. The side chain length and the space between two of these chains inside the main chain define these materials apart from Nafion® [64].

However, Nafion<sup>®</sup> membranes (Nafion<sup>®</sup>115, 117) are currently the popular membranes used in this electrolyzer since they offer many benefits, including the ability to operate at high power density, strong proton transfer, good thermal and mechanical stability, and the potential to perform at a high amperage rate. Nevertheless, to permit the displacement of H<sup>+</sup> ions associated with the sulfonate groups, the membrane must continuously be kept saturated with water [32, 37].

Aquivion® membranes from the manufacturer Solvay may also be used. They are also perfluoro sulfonate but have shorter pendant chains than Nafion<sup>®</sup>. Moreover, they exhibit crystallinity and have a higher glass transition temperature [65].

To limit and reduce the ohmic drop and the size of the system, the membrane must be as thin as possible. However, this membrane is not perfectly impermeable to gases, so some of the reagents produced can pass through it. This phenomenon of membrane permeation to gases can be problematic. Indeed, when the dihydrogen concentration in dioxygen exceeds 4 vol. %, the mixture becomes explosive [62–65]. Therefore, it is necessary to have a sufficiently thick membrane to limit this diffusion phenomenon,

especially when operating pressures are much higher than atmospheric pressure.

## 3.1. Classification of membranes

In PEM electrolyze technology, the development and elaboration of performant membrane material is still the core of research. The membranes used in PEMWE can be categorized based on the type of material used to synthesize the membrane. The two main categories of PEMs are perfluorinated membranes and hydrocarbon-based membranes (nonfluorinated).

Perfluorinated membranes, such as Nafion<sup>®</sup>, are the PEMs that are most frequently used. They have a backbone consisting of perfluorinated polymers and sulfonic acid groups that allow proton transport. As an alternative to perfluorinated barriers, hydrocarbon-based membranes are composed of substances such as sulfonated poly(ether ether ketone) (SPEEK). These electrolytes have the advantage of being less expensive than perfluorinated membranes, but they generally have lower proton conductivity and chemical tolerance [67–69].

PEMs can also be classified based on their structure, which can be either homogeneous or heterogeneous. Homogeneous membranes are made of a single material, while heterogeneous membranes consist of multiple layers of different materials. Heterogeneous membranes are designed to improve membrane performance by combining the benefits of different materials, such as high proton conductivity and low gas permeability [37].

Acidic perfluorosulfonic (PFSA) and non-fluorinated membranes are employed in a large range of PEMs, but their performance is reduced above 90°C and at low relative humidity [67]. Therefore, to enhance the functionality of these separators, research has been conducted to introduce additional substances into the polymer matrix.

Membranes that are fully fluorinated, partially fluorinated, and non-fluorinated are the different categories of polymer electrolytes that have been researched, as shown in Fig. 3.



Fig. 3. Classification of the electrolyte membranes. Source: Authors

#### 3.1.1. Perfluorinated membranes

One of the most essential aspects of PEM electrolysis is the membrane, and the most prominent categories are those made of perfluorosulfonic acids, such as Nafion and Flemion. Nafion is a sulfonated tetrafluoroethylene-based polymer with the chemical formula  $C_nF_{2n+1}$  SO<sub>3</sub>H that was created by DuPont in the late 1960s [37]. They are recognized for their significant stability in acid medium and strong proton conductivity. The membrane is an ionomer, a thermoplastic polymer that differs from polyelectrolytes by the percentage of ionic groups. As depicted in Fig. 4, the PFSA is divided into three key sections: (1) a polytetrafluoroethylene-like backbone (PTFE),

(2) the  $-O-CF_2-CF-O-CF_2-CF_2$ -side chains that communicate the backbone and the last section, and (3) ion clusters in the third area composed of sulfonic acid ions [70].

The third region's hydrogen ions become mobile by forming bonds with water molecules when the membrane is hydrated, and they migrate between sulfonic acid groups [69].



Fig. 4. General structure of PFSA membrane. Source: Authors

Membranes made of perfluorosulfonic acid (PFSA) distinguish for their superior performance, electrochemical stability, satisfactory mechanical properties, and quick start. As a result, improving perfluorosulfonic acid membranes and ionomers is essential to enhancing membrane electrode assemblies' performance at real current densities. According to the length of the side chain and the presence of -CF<sub>3</sub>, the PFSA electrolyte are classified into long-side chain (LSC) membranes and short-side chain (SSC) membranes [70-76]. In this context, alternative PFSA barriers with shorter pendant side chains have been created, and several of them, including those from Asahi Chemical (Aciplex), Asahi Glass (Flemions), 3MTM, FuMA-Tech (Fumions), and Solvay-Solexis, are now commercially or experimentally accessible (Aquivion). The distance of the perfluorovinyl ether side chain, the presence or absence of the pendant -CF<sub>3</sub> group, the molar ratio of TFE, and the side chain functionalized TFE are some of the characteristics that differentiate these products from one another [63,64]. For instance, a side chain with a shorter length and no pendant CF3 group produces a polymer with a higher glass transition temperature and crystallinity at the same weight as the polymer (EW). Various polymers, particularly Fumapem, Flemion, and Aciplex, are exploited. These materials are significant for their good characteristics, they differ from Nafion® by the length of the side chain and the distance between two of these chains in the main chain.

The highly recommended Nafion<sup>®</sup> membranes used in PEM water electrolyzes currently are Nafion<sup>®</sup> 115 and 117, as these electrolytes types offer considerable advantages, the membrane must always remain saturated with water to allow the movement of  $H^+$  associated with the sulfonate groups.

Membranes known as Aquivion<sup>®</sup> from the manufacturer Solvay can also be used. These are also perfluorosulphonated but have shorter pendant chains than Nafion<sup>®</sup>. They are also characterized by a higher crystallinity and glass transition temperature [65].

Solvay Specialty Polymers has developed a short-side-chain as shown in Fig. 5 (SSC) perfluorinated ionomer with no fluoroether group in the pendant side-chain, comprising only two  $CF_2$  groups, chemically stabilized perfluorosulfonic acid membrane has an equivalent weight of 870g/eq [64].

As compared to long-side-chain (LSC) polymers at equal weight, this ionomer is identified with better crystallinity and a higher glass transition temperature. Aquivion<sup>®</sup> has been shown to have a glass transition temperature ( $T_g$ ) in the dry state of 127°C contrary to 67°C for Nafion<sup>®</sup> [77]. Under humidified conditions, ionic exchanges are facilitated by the presence of water, causing the  $T_g$  to rise correspondingly.

These PFSA membranes do, however, come with a few disadvantages and limitations, including expensive prices, poor conductivity at low water levels, poor mechanical strength at higher temperatures, and low glass transition temperatures. In order to create these membranes, which can function at temperatures above 100°C, it is necessary to modify the existing ones by incorporating additional hygroscopic inorganic particles or by creating innovative polymer systems [32, 63].

There are specific parameters according to which membranes are classified [67]:

- The shape (membrane, dispersion, granules, and pellets).
- The thickness of the membrane.
- The manufacturing processes.
- Teflon reinforcement.



Fig. 5. Polymer composition for long-side chain and short-side chain.

There are several commercially available perfluorinated membranes used in (PEMWE) [32, 37, 72–76, 63–65, 67–71] (Table 1):

- *Nafion*: This is the most used perfluorinated electrolyte. It is produced by the chemical company DuPont and is made up of a perfluorinated backbone with sulfonic acid groups attached to it. Nafion membranes have excellent proton conductivity, good mechanical strength, and high chemical stability.
- Flemion: It is produced by the Japanese company Asahi Glass Co. and is like Nafion in its chemical structure. Although Flemion membranes have strong mechanical durability and high proton conductivity, they are less chemically stable than Nafion.
- Aciplex: This is a perfluorinated membrane produced by Solvay, a Belgian chemical company. It has a similar chemical structure to Nafion but with shorter side chains. Aciplex is less chemically stable than Nafion.
- *Dowex*: This is a perfluorinated membrane produced by Dow Chemical. It has a chemical structure similar to Nafion but with a lower degree of sulfonation. Dowex membranes have lower proton conductivity than Nafion but are more mechanically stable.
- *Gore-Select*: This is a perfluorinated membrane produced by Gore, an American manufacturing company. It has a chemical structure similar to Nafion but with a higher degree of fluorination.

#### Table 1

Different types of perfluorinated commercial membranes [70].

Name	Parameters	EW	Thickness (mm)
Nafion117 Nafion115 Nafion112	m=1, x=5-13.5 n= 2, y= 1	1100 1100 1100	175 125 80
Flemion-T Flemion-S Flemion-R	m=0,1, n= 1 -5	1000 1000 1000	120 80 50
Aciplex-S	m=0, n=2-5, x=1.5-14	1000/1200	25/100

Perfluorinated membranes are well known for their excellent performance, they have good ion conductivity, excellent thermal and mechanical resistance, and good chemical resistance. Additionally, they exhibit low gas crossover and are impermeable to liquid water, which is essential for maintaining efficient permeability across the electrolyte [64]. They are widely used in laboratory settings, and they offer excellent performance in terms of current density and energy efficiency, making them a popular choice for PEM water decomposition experiments. Yet, the high cost of perfluorinated membranes is a major concern, and their performance can be negatively affected by high temperature and low humidity conditions. To overcome these limitations, research efforts have been directed toward developing new perfluorinated membrane formulations with improved properties and reducing their thickness to minimize the ohmic resistance in the system [67]. Non-fluorinated and partially fluorinated membranes have also been considered potential replacements for perfluorinated electrolytes, but their performance is still inferior in terms of mechanical and chemical endurance, ion conductivity, and gas crossover resistance. Therefore, despite their high cost, perfluorinated membranes remain the most widely used

materials in PEMWE applications due to their superior performance and reliability.

Despite these challenges, perfluorinated membranes remain a key component in many laboratory-scale PEMWE systems, and ongoing research aims to further optimize their performance and address their limitations [69].

## 3.1.2. Modified/reinforced perfluorinated membranes

Significant endeavors are being done to improve the performance and efficiency of separator electrolytes, lower prices, and provide hightemperature operation to address issues related to the use of perfluorosulfonic acid (PFSA) membranes. The objective of elaborating composite membranes is to increase thermomechanical resistance through polymer/composite interactions. The two suggested alternatives are either adjusting PFSA membranes by incorporating new materials or employing a non-aqueous, lowvolatile solution that accomplishes a similar function as water. The high conductivity of ions in Nafion selective barriers of water dissociation cells can be achieved in a solvent environment by replacing pure water with a nonaqueous, low-volatility solvent, such as water-organic mixtures, alcohols, organic acids, and aprotic dipolar solvents [32, 37, 72]. It is preferable to use thinner membranes to maintain water management during cell operation. The thinness of the membrane depends on the reduction of internal resistance [28, 56, 78, 79]. However, depending on how the electrolysis cell is configured to function (high temperature), the reduction of mechanical resistance represents a challenge for the development of thinner membranes [37]. To solve this problem, the reinforcement of PFSA composite membranes is a major element in achieving this challenge. This development is achieved by reinforcing materials such as polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE). Among the most used and hydrophilic inorganic particles are silica (SiO2), titanium dioxide (TiO<sub>2</sub>), zirconium dioxide (ZrO<sub>2</sub>), or hafnium dioxide (HfO<sub>2</sub>). The effectiveness of Nafion-silica polymeric electrolyte is substantially higher than Nafion and can be observed according to Nafion/SiO<sub>2</sub>> Nafion/ZrO<sub>2</sub>> Nafion/WO<sub>3</sub>> Nafion/T<sub>i</sub>O<sub>2</sub> [80-84]. However, the development of these composite polymers is restrained by a significant loss in mechanical strength.

The comparison between altered Nafion and different inorganic substances/fillers, such as zirconium phosphate, titanium phosphate, cesium phosphate, and heteropolyacids, are highlighted in Table 2. The modification and development of these modified membranes have shown good results for the operation of (PEMWE) cells at high temperatures [85].

#### Table 2

Different types of modified/reinforced Perfluorinated membranes [84].

Membranes	Water uptake %	Conductivity (S/cm) [RH 100%]
Nafion <sup>®</sup> /SiO <sub>2</sub>	34	$1.07 \times 10-2$
Nafion <sup>®</sup> /ZrO <sub>2</sub>	24	$2 \times 10-2$
Nafion <sup>®</sup> /sulfated ZrO <sub>2</sub>	27	$2.3 \times 10 - 1$

Modified or reinforced perfluorinated PEM have shown promising performance in laboratory-scale PEMWEs. These membranes are designed to overcome the limitations of traditional perfluorinated membranes. Reinforcement can be achieved through the incorporation of inorganic substances, such as silica or zirconia, which improve mechanical characteristics and proton conductivity. Additionally, modification of the chemical structure of the perfluorinated backbone can improve thermal stability and ion transport. Yet, the production of these modified membranes can be complex and expensive, limiting their practical applications. Further research is needed to optimize the performance and cost-effectiveness of these membranes for large-scale industrial use [85, 86].

#### 3.1.3. Non-fluorinated membranes

Non-fluorinated polymeric membranes are a promising alternative under development, have a price reduction of the MEA assembly as its primary objective, and develop a material suitable for the operating conditions of the cell. Unlike traditional fluorinated membranes, which are made from perfluorinated sulfonic acid (PFSA) polymers, non-fluorinated membranes are made from alternative materials that do not contain any fluorine atoms. Several materials can serve as polymer backbones for proton-conducting polymer electrolytes [87, 88], such as (a) polysulfones (PSF), which are aromatic polymers characterized by appropriate resistance to hydrolysis and oxidation; and (b) polyetheretherketone (PEEK), which have the main advantage of high mechanical properties due to their polyaromatic backbone. The characteristics of PEEK membranes synthesized directly from sulfonated monomers are significantly superior to those of post-sulfonated PEEK [89]. There is no specific estimate for the proton circulation of this material, as it depends on several factors, including the selection of casting solvent, sulfonation process, level of sulfonation, relative humidity, and heat [89].

Sulfonated PEEK has some advantages over Nafion as an alternative polymer. The most well-known and commonly used sulfonated PEEK is Vichex PEEK, which is characterized by a temperature  $T_g$  of 143°C and a fusion temperature  $T_f$  of 334°C. However, it has some disadvantages such as difficulty in modifying it chemically due to its low solubility in organic solvents. At 80°C and 100% humidity, the conductivity is  $10^{-2}$  S.cm<sup>-1</sup>, which is lower than that of Nafion<sup>®</sup> under the same circumstances. Moreover, the structure of SPEEK permits the incorporation of polar sites, which contributes to increasing water absorption [90, 91].

Several other materials, such as poly(benzimidazole) functionalized or doped with acid, are under development. Polymer blend technology could be an effective solution for developing innovative membrane materials. A combination of materials offers numerous degrees of freedom in comparison to a one-component polymer, which enables the material to be adapted to the requirements of the membrane and the operating environment [89–91]. This blend is important and effective since it is possible to combine two materials that may have very different qualities. For example, it is possible to blend a material that is characterized by good mechanical properties with another material that is characterized by high flexibility [79]. Table 3 shows Different types of non-modified Perfluorinated membranes.

Polymer blend membranes are a combination of polymeric nitrogen with polymeric sulfonic acids. Proton exchange membranes made of polybenzimidazole (PBI) are among the most widely used acid-base polymer blends. They are highly effective non-fluorinated membranes with good thermal and mechanical tolerance at elevated temperatures, high proton conductivity, and low electro-osmosis, and they can function at high temperatures (T = 200°C). Additionally, they are low-cost compared to Nafion/perfluorinated ionomers [85, 87–91]. These membranes are extremely heat resistant and have a high proton conductivity; their cracking temperatures range from 270 to 350 °C [91].

#### Table 3

Different types of non-modified Perfluorinated membranes [84].

Type of membrane	Electrolyte Thickness (µm)	Conductivity (S/cm) [RH 100%]
Sulfonated polyimide	70	0.004 - 0.02
S-PEEK- aminated polysulfone blend	29	0.3
Phosphoric acid-doped sulfonated polysulfone	80-110	0.3

#### 3.1.4. Hybrid \ composite membranes

The different types of polymers mentioned above have several advantages as PEMWE membranes, however, they have serious inconveniences that limit the development and commercialization of this hydrogen production process. One of the major problems is the low ion conductivity at high temperatures as a result of the low water content under these conditions. To solve this problem and boost the membrane's efficacy and effectiveness, various studies have concentrated on the evolution and fabrication of alternative high-achievement membranes. To this purpose, several approaches have been envisaged, like the use of new polymers or composite materials.

The term "Composite" or "hybrid material" are created by combining the polymer with other materials, such as inorganic particles (e.g. silica or titanium dioxide), carbon nano-tubes, or other polymers, it refers to a substance that contains two or even more molecularly combined substances, at least one of them is organic and the second one is inorganic [92, 93].

There are two primary types of inorganic-organic composite membranes: membranes made of less-proton conducting inorganic particles and proton conductive polymers, as well as membranes made of organic polymers and proton conductive particles [92, 93].

Proton exchange membranes have a special structural feature that consists of a system of nanopores and channels interconnecting the pores, the size of which varies depending on how hydrated the materials are. The incorporation of nanoparticles of various inorganic or macromolecular compounds into the pores may greatly increase the electrochemical properties, heat resistance, and mechanical characteristics of these materials. Various ways of realizing these membranes exist, such as the addition of nanoparticles to boost the characteristics of Nafion [92–94], the process of preparing these ameliorations is simple because it is based on the dispersion of the inorganic charge, which is most often in the form of clays, Sepiolite, Halloysite, oxides (TiO<sub>2</sub>, SnO<sub>2</sub>, ZrO<sub>2</sub>) or carbon nanotubes [51] within a polymer matrix previously dissolved in water or an organic solvent. The second panel is a blend of polymers with different properties in order to improve certain assets such as thermal resistance, mechanical properties, water retention, or proton conductivity values. These hybrid organic/inorganic polymer containing a hybrid conductive network from inorganic polymer, inorganic polymer functionalized by sulfonic and phosphonic functions, Organic/inorganic MH composed from non-conductive fluorinated polymer [94].

Based on this, novel composite membranes made of polymers with little or no proton conductivity are created, some of which have chemical and mechanical stability comparable to or superior to the traditional electrolyte.

By combining ferroxane and polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) nanoparticles, Zhang et al. [95] created proton-conducting composite membranes by coupling the strong proton conductivity of ferroxane and the favorable mechanical characteristics of PVA, the invention of a hybrid electrolyte with the potential to be used in PEMWE systems is ensured. The development of innovative electrolytes based on the principle of mixing one or more materials can have an important impact on accelerating the use of green hydrogen at the industrial level.

#### 3.1.5 Membrane Based on Biomass

Membranes based on biomass are an emerging class of proton exchange membranes (PEMs) that are derived from renewable biomass resources such as lignocellulose, chitosan, and other natural polymers. Biomass-based PEMs have gained interest as a more sustainable and environmentally friendly alternative to traditional perfluorinated PEMs, which are derived from nonrenewable and potentially harmful sources.

## • Based on carbon

The interest in creating PEMs based on carbon materials has risen during the past few years, which are more affordable, sustainable, and environmentally friendly. They have shown promising properties. Firstly, they are more affordable and sustainable as carbon is abundant and inexpensive compared to the rare and expensive fluorinated monomers used in perfluorinated PEMs. Secondly, carbon-based PEMs have a lower environmental impact as they do not contain perfluorinated compounds that are persistent in the environment and can cause harm to wildlife and humans. Additionally, carbon-based PEMs can be recycled or disposed of more easily compared to perfluorinated membranes [96–98].

Carbon-based PEMs can be synthesized from a variety of carbonaceous materials, including graphene oxide, carbon nanotubes, and activated carbon [99]. Graphene oxide (GO) is a promising material for carbon-based PEMs due to its similar properties to PFSA. GO can be easily functionalized with sulfonic acid groups, which improve its proton conductivity by increasing the number of proton exchange sites. Carbon nanotubes (CNTs) are another potential material for carbon-based PEMs due to their high aspect ratio, which provides a large surface area for proton exchange [96-100]. CNTs can be combined with amino groups, which enhance their proton conductivity and selectivity. Activated carbon (AC) is a widely available material that has shown promising properties for carbon-based PEMs. As a result of its large porosity and large surface area, AC contains an abundance of proton exchange-active sites. AC can be functionalized with sulfonic acid or amino groups to enhance its proton conductivity and selectivity. Overall, carbonbased PEMs have the potential to offer a more sustainable and cost-effective alternative to traditional perfluorinated PEMs, and ongoing research is focused on optimizing their properties for various electrochemical applications [96]-[100].

## • Based on nanocellulose

Lignocellulosic waste is a material derived from lignocellulosic biomass, such as straw, sawdust, bagasse, and other non-food plant materials. These materials could be synthesized into PEMs based on naturally occurring polymers including cellulose, lignin, and hemicellulose, which are fundamental components of plant cell walls. Nanocellulose has adequate properties such as high surface area, high strength, and excellent water retention, which make it a promising material for PEMs [101–103]. Nanocellulose is produced from cellulose, which is a natural polymer. The

production of nanocellulose involves the fragmentation of these cellulose fibers into nanometric particles. This can be achieved in different ways, including mechanical, chemical, and enzymatic methods.

Several approaches have been proposed for fabricating nanocellulosebased PEMs, including:

- *Composite membranes:* nanocellulose can be blended with other materials such as chitosan, polyvinyl alcohol, or polyethylene glycol to form composite membranes. These are employed to strengthen the mechanical resistance and water retention properties of the membrane. The blending process involves dispersing nanocellulose in a solvent or water followed by adding the other material and stirring to obtain a homogenous mixture. The resulting mixture can then be cast into a film or membrane using techniques such as solvent casting or spin coating. Composite membranes have shown good proton conductivity and mechanical properties. For example, a composite membrane made of nanocellulose and chitosan has shown a proton conductivity of 0.004 S/cm at 80°C and 100% relative humidity (RH) [104, 105]. Another composite membrane made of nanocellulose and polyvinyl alcohol has shown 0.012 S/cm at 100% RH and room temperature [104, 105].

- *Self-standing membranes:* Nanocellulose can be used alone to form self-standing membranes through methods such as vacuum filtration, spin coating, or layer-by-layer assembly. In vacuum filtration, a suspension of nanocellulose in water or a solvent is poured onto a filter paper or membrane, and the water or solvent is removed under vacuum to obtain a self-standing membrane. Spin coating involves depositing a layer of nanocellulose on a substrate by spinning at high speed [101–103, 106, 107]. Layer-by-layer assembly involves depositing multiple layers of nanocellulose on a substrate, alternating with a polyelectrolyte such as polyethyleneimine or poly(styrenesulfonate) [101–103].

- *Surface modification:* involves introducing functional groups such as carboxyl, sulfonic, or amino groups to the surface of nanocellulose to improve its proton conductivity and water retention. This can be achieved by treating nanocellulose with chemicals such as sulfuric acid, sodium hydroxide, or epichlorohydrin [101–103]. Surface-modified nanocellulose has shown improved proton conductivity and water retention properties. For example, a surface-modified nanocellulose with sulfonic acid groups has shown 0.042 S/cm at 80°C and 100% RH [108].

Overall, the development of nitrocellulose-based PEMs instability early stages, and some challenges need to be addressed such as improving the stability and decreasing the cost of the membranes. However, the unique properties of nanocellulose offer a promising alternative to traditional PEM materials.

## 3.2. Essential transport phenomena in the membrane

Fig. 6 shows the different stages and essential processes of transport phenomena. The membrane's function in an active cell is to effectively transport ions and water, reject electrons, and separate reactant gases. Protons pass through water channels in the PEM electrolysis cell. Thus, it's crucial to manage the water molecules in the membranes that swell to determine the proton conductivity. As the water activity of the membrane significantly impacts the transportation of protons, water circulation modeling is also essential.



Fig. 6. Important membrane transport phenomenon. Source: Authors

## 3.2.1. Water transport

The amount of water is a way to characterize the  $\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}$  absorption of the solid electrolyte.

This is represented by the  $\lambda_m$  which is defined as the number of absorbed water molecules (n<sub>H2O</sub>) divided by the number of sulfonate groups. (n<sub>SO3</sub>-) [52].

$$\lambda_m = \frac{n_{H_2O}}{n_{SO^-_3}} \tag{18}$$

It can also be defined in terms of the equivalent weight EW [g mol<sup>-1</sup>], the dry density of the membrane  $\rho_{dry}$  [g.m<sup>-3</sup>], and the concentration of H<sub>2</sub>O molecules in the membrane C<sub>H2O</sub>(mol.m<sup>3</sup>) [52]:

$$\lambda_m = \frac{EW}{\rho_{dr_v}} C_{H_2O} \tag{19}$$

Sorption, transport, and desorption inside the electrolyte barrier are necessary for  $H_2O$  to pass through. The PFSA polymer's chemical structure regulates the membrane's physical qualities like porosity, tortuosity, and the structure of its ionic zones, while the manufacturing process utilized to create the membrane dictates its overall water permeability [109].

By measuring the  $H_2O$  flux under a chemical potential gradient resulting from an alteration in either water concentration or pressure; it is possible to determine the membrane's permeability. [110]. The system's efficiency in "dry" environments is enhanced by a faster rate of water flow across the membranes. Since protons and water molecules move through the same tortuous, hydrophilic pathways, the rates of water penetration and effective proton mobility are dynamically related [27, 28]. It is essential to note that net water movement occurs both on the membrane's surface and, less commonly, inside the electrolyte.

Ideally, water flows only through the anode channel, but some of the  $H_2O$  passes through the electrolyte interface into the anode channel. Three distinct factors cause water to pass through the membrane [110–114]. Water diffusion is the initial consideration; it is mostly non-linear and is impacted by temperature, gradient, and membrane structure. From the anode to the cathode, water circulates, from high to low-concentration regions. In other words, to create protons and oxygen gas, most of the water undergoes the oxygen evolution process. Therefore, the diffusion phenomenon is a mechanism that transfers a small quantity of water through PEM and this is justified by the substantial pressure inequalities between the both positive and negative sides. The PEMWE's negative side is maintained at a relatively constant 1 bar while the cathode side generates hydrogen at a maximum pressure of 70 bars [27, 28, 110–114].

The second process, related to electro-osmotic water drag, is significantly impacted by the current density and membrane hydration level. By measuring how many moles of H2O are pulled by each mole of  $H^+$  ions, electro-osmotic drag can be used to measure the quantity of water that is transported across the selective electrolyte.

The third mechanism is the pressure gradient, which is generated by the osmotic pressure gradient and the hydraulic component (Darcy flow). The permeability of the membrane determines the water flow resulting from the pressure differential between the two sides, and this flow is calculated using Darcy's Law [115–117].

#### 3.2.2. Proton conductivity

Ion transport in the PEMWE membrane is mainly achieved by conduction. However, to complete the electrochemical process, the phenomenon of proton migration is significant, as it impacts how protons move across the polymeric membrane. It represents one of the most crucial elements for identifying the limiting current density and, eventually, establishing how an electrolyzer function. EW (number of charge carriers), hydration number, polymer structure, membrane thickness, and temperature all significantly influence ionic conductivity in PFSA membranes [111, 112, 118]. Furthermore, it (measured in S.cm<sup>-1</sup>) depends directly on the water content and temperature and is a key characteristic for assessing a membrane's performance or utility as a candidate for PEMWE. Moreover, the ability of the membrane to store water and the environment's humidity have a significant influence on conductivity.

This dependence is generally described by an Arrhenius law [52]:

$$\sigma_m = A \exp(-\frac{E_A}{RT_m}) \tag{20}$$

where A is the parameter that depends on the water content,  $E_A$  represents the activation energy for ion conduction, R perfect gas constant, and  $T_m$  is the temperature, the pretreatment of the membrane has an impact on these characteristics as well.

Furthermore, gases and water can pass through these membranes, causing the appearance of hydrogen on the oxygen section and vice versa. The term used to describe this mechanism is gas crossover. Two modes ensure the transport of protons: the Grotthuss mechanism and the Vehicle mechanism via diffusion [119–122].

The Grotthuss method involves the creation of hydronium ions  $(H_3O^+)$ , which transport protons from one ionic site of hydrolysis to another. However, in the second process, the influence of concentration variation on diffusion and electro-osmotic action is what transports the hydronium ions. Since the diffusion step of the Grotthuss mechanism is quicker than that of the second mechanism, it dominates proton conduction [121, 122].

## 3.2.3. Ion transport

In addition to protons and water molecules, other ions, such as hydroxide ions (OH) may be generated during the electrolysis process and transported through the PEM. These ions can contribute to the cathode's development of hydroxide ions, which can affect the overall efficiency of the PEMWE system [27]. Therefore, it is important to have selective ion transport in the PEM to prevent contamination of the electrolyte solution and maintain high efficiency. Selective ion transport in the PEM can be achieved by controlling the size and charge of the pores in the membrane. The pores should be small enough to prevent the transport of larger ions that could contaminate the electrolyte solution, while still allowing for the transport of protons and other smaller ions. The charge of the pores can also be controlled to selectively allow the transport of certain ions while repelling others [118, 123, 124].

Ion transport in the PEM occurs through two primary mechanisms: diffusion and electroosmotic drag. Diffusion is the movement of ions from high concentration to low concentration, while electroosmotic drag is the action of an electric field on the mobility of ions. These mechanisms can be managed by adjusting the properties of the PEM, such as the particle size, charge, and thickness [119, 123, 124].

Research is ongoing to develop new PEM materials and optimize system designs that can improve selective ion transport and prevent contamination of the electrolyte solution. By improving ion transport in the PEM, PEMWE systems can operate more efficiently and produce high-quality hydrogen for a wide range of applications.

## 3.3. Degradation and durability of membranes

The most promising membranes for producing hydrogen are proton electrolyte membranes (PEMs), which have reasonable conductivity at low temperatures. However, there are still issues preventing the widespread use of PEM production. The first challenge concerns operating temperature. Water electrolysis cells with Nafion® type membranes cannot exceed a maximum temperature of 100°C [12]. In practice, the acceptable operating temperature ranges around 60 and 80°C [12]. However, at temperatures above these levels, the membranes risk losing their mechanical properties. The second challenge relates to humidity. It is necessary that the membrane remain constantly wet, as the handling of water is a key factor in the PEM cell membrane. Water represents the reactant, which must be distributed uniformly toward the catalytic sites to enable the displacement of H<sup>+</sup> ions [119]. Otherwise, current circulation in the cell will stop. Conversely, if the membrane becomes too dry, it becomes much more fragile and can break [125]. Membrane deterioration, which may be divided into mechanical, thermal, and chemical/electrochemical types, is one of the principal reasons that reduce a stack's endurance.

## 3.3.1. Mechanical and thermal deterioration

When electrolysis is used for more than 1000 hours, the membrane often encounters significant difficulties, such as mechanical troubles like cracks, tears, pressure from the reactants, and stress. As a result, mechanical deterioration is induced by repetitive expansion and contraction related to variations in wet and dry conditions that compromise the membrane's integrity [126]. These phenomena are related and due to [126–128]:

-The compression of the electrolyte during operation.

-The presence of multiple components of different materials forming the membrane electrode assembly, with excessive forces exerted on the bipolar plate channels causing compression that leads to degradation. The irregular compression of current collectors, which allows some titanium ions to penetrate the system, can also degrade the membrane.

-In contrast to chemical attack, mechanical failure is more frequent at high working pressures because the electrolyte is susceptible to creep and the cross-penetration of gases at higher pressures. -A high water flow in the cell leads to the accumulation of pressure, which causes degradation.

-Variations in the membrane's relative humidity are essential to the deterioration of the membrane.

- Minimal current frequencies when the electrolysis is working at a high temperature cause the membrane's solubility and mobility to decrease, degrading cell operation.

-A bad distribution of the current lines can lead to the apparition of hot spots that speed up the deterioration and even cause holes.

-To ensure highly efficient functioning, the PFSA membrane typically operates at a suitable operating temperature of approximately 80°C.

#### 3.3.2. Chemical / electrochemical degradation

Chemical degradation represents one of the major obstacles to sustainable and long-term operations and is a significant issue in perfluorosulfonic acid (PFSA) membrane failure. The thinning of the membrane and the chemical interaction between it and the hostile radical species produced during the electrolysis operation can affect how durable the membrane is. Even though PFSA membranes are made of a chemically inert fluorocarbon structure like Teflon, which is crucial for stability, the electrolyte is susceptible to chemical deterioration [16].

-Thinning of membranes is necessary to limit and reduce the ohmic drop and the size of the system, and the membrane must be as thin as possible. However, this membrane is not perfectly impermeable to gases, so some of the reactants produced can pass through it. Indicating that the crossover permeability of gas improves with temperature and drops down with current density, the continuous oxygen crossover occurs throughout the electrolysis process. According to Grigoriev et al. [125], the electrolyte thickness decreases by almost 75% following a 5500-hour long-term test.

Conventionally, compared to oxygen, hydrogen permeates anodes from cathodes more effectively. Consequently, oxygen infiltrating at the cathode competes with the hydrogen production reaction, which leads to the process used to manufacture hydrogen peroxide at the surfaces of the platinum electrode. This is responsible for the degradability of the membrane [37, 125, 129]. The main mechanism of chemical degradation is an attack by hydroxyl radicals (OH) related to the development of hydrogen peroxide

(H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) [130]. In fact, when  $O_2$  penetrates through the membrane, the subsequent reaction results in the formation of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>.

$$O_2 + 2H^+ + 2e^- \rightarrow H_2O_2 \tag{21}$$

This peroxide is catalyzed by the presence of metal cations, dissociating into radicals (OH) through several mechanisms. These radicals then attack the principal and secondary chains of PFSA, leading to a loss of membrane thickness [129]. Metal cations can come from platinum dissolution, bipolar plate oxidation, or feed water. This thinning of the polymer electrolyte leads to an increase in the permeation phenomenon, which can cause the electrolyzer to stop operating [129, 131]. The presence of oxidizing species causes the deterioration of the perfluorosulfonic acid backbone of the membrane, resulting in the release of fluoride and sulfur and thinning of the membrane. Therefore, the fluoride release amount (FRR) and sulfur emission rate approaches can be used to examine chemical degradation [37, 125, 129, 131]. This phenomenon of membrane permeation to gases can be problematic. Beyond 4 vol. % of dihydrogen in dioxygen, the mixture becomes explosive [91]. Therefore, it is necessary to have a sufficiently thick membrane to limit this diffusion phenomenon, which is particularly accentuated when operating pressures are much higher than atmospheric pressure.

- Contamination of metals: several studies have demonstrated that the liquidphase conductivity decreases whenever there are cations on the electrolyte. Corrosion leads to the formation of several metal ions, including Na<sup>+</sup>, Li<sup>+</sup>, Ca<sup>2+</sup>, Cu<sup>2+</sup>, Ni<sup>2+</sup>, and Fe<sup>3+</sup> [130]. These ions are considered contaminants that can affect the membrane's performance. These impurities cause high ohmic losses because most metal cations travel differently through the Nafion electrolyte than protons due to their higher affinity for sulfonic acid groups [129, 131]. What follows is a summary of the deterioration caused by poisoning: [37, 129–131]:

- Diffusion and permeation are initially used to dissolve the metal ions.

- Subsequently, these ions occupy the membrane's ion exchange sites. Since most of these ions have a higher affinity than  $\rm H^+$  for the sulfonic acid groups of Nafion, this affects the flow of metal cations in the electrolyte

compared to protons, which significantly impacts ionic conductivity when protons  $(H^+)$  are replaced by metal cations.

- Finally, metal ions' flexibility is substantially lower than that of  $H^+$ , resulting in the accumulation of ohmic losses.

## 3.3.3 Perspectives

The durability of the electrolyte in PEMWE is one of the serious problems encountered in its design and operation. To prevent mechanical and chemical membrane deterioration accompanied by electrolyte thinning, metal ions occupying exchange receptors, and corrosion caused by thermochemical processes, the following options should be considered [37, 125, 127–131]:

-The use of inert, non-conductive reinforcing materials, such as polymer fibers, to produce the membrane, as well as the conservation of the membrane edges in the sealing area, especially in cases of high mechanical loads required for sealing at high temperatures, are suggested remedies that could minimize these difficulties.

-Particular attention has been given to the synthesis of membranes that can chemically tolerate peroxide radicals. One remedy is to create new membranes that are more chemically stable. It is also advised to use materials with high resistance to corrosive content when creating membranes. Finally, it is recommended to use distilled water to reduce the membrane's susceptibility to poisoning. Innovative electrolytes can also be manufactured by including free radical inhibitors and stabilizers, such as hindered amines or antioxidants.

- To avoid the degradation of perfluorinated sulfonic membranes under the effect of free radicals, the incorporation of  $MnO_2$  nanocomposites allows the process of hydrogen peroxide degradation and the elimination of free radicals without causing major degradation in the performance of the electrolyte [129].

## 4. Discussion

The critical review of electrolyte membrane evaluation for PEMWE highlights the important role of PEM membranes in the effectiveness and robustness of the electrolyzing cell. The review emphasizes the need for a comprehensive understanding of the functioning, performance, and limitations of the electrolyte membrane. There are several methods used to evaluate the performance of electrolyte membranes, these methods can provide valuable insights into the important aspects that influence the performance and durability of the electrolyte, such as chemical consistency, mechanical strength, and proton conductivity [132].

Here are some used methods [133–136]:

- *Conductivity measurements*: as said previously, conductivity is an important parameter for electrolyte membranes as it determines the rate of proton transport. Conductivity measurements determine the proton conductivity of the electrolyte membrane and can provide information on the membrane's ability to transport protons efficiently.

- *Thermal stability tests*: can be used to evaluate the stability of the membrane under varied temperatures and to determine the maximum temperature at which the membrane can operate without degradation. This information is critical for designing electrolyzer systems that operate at high temperatures.

- *Water uptake measurements*: can be used to evaluate the aptitude of the electrolyte membrane to absorb and retain water. This is important as water is necessary for the proton transportation process, and the membrane must maintain a balance between hydration and dehydration to function effectively.

- Mechanical strength tests: can be used to determine the longevity and mechanical stability of the electrolyte under different stress conditions, such as tension, compression, and bending.

- *Durability tests:* durability tests can be employed to measure stability over time and the performance of the electrolyte membrane under continuous operation.

Regarding the several classifications of membranes used and under development, Table 4 summarizes a comparison between them.

In summary, the choice of PEM for a PEMWE depends on various factors, including operating conditions, cost considerations, and performance requirements. Perfluorinated membranes offer excellent performance but are expensive and may have limited durability under harsh operating conditions. Modified perfluorinated membranes offer improved durability but may have lower performance. Non-fluorinated membranes offer lower cost and good stability but may have lower performance and mechanical strength. Hybrid and biomass-based membranes offer promising sustainability benefits, but their performance and durability may vary depending on the specific composition and manufacturing process.

## Table 4

Comparison between the membranes.

Property	Perfluorinated Membranes	Modified Perfluorinated Membranes	Non-Fluorinated Membranes
Proton conductivity	Extremely good	Good to moderate	Good
Chemical stability	Extremely good	Good	Good
Thermal stability	Moderate to Good	Excellent	Good to Excellent
Water uptake capacity	High	Moderate	Low to Moderate
Mechanical strength	Excellent	Good	Moderate
Cost	High	Moderate	Low
Durability	Limited	Good	Moderate to Good
Performance	Excellent	Good to moderate	Good

The implementation of the green hydrogen produced by PEMWE is strictly dependent on the development of the proton electrolyte membrane. Therefore, any improvements in the characterization of electrolyte membranes can have a considerable consequence on the overall performance of the technology. This can reduce the estimated quantity of energy necessary for producing green hydrogen, making the technology more cost-effective and environmentally friendly. In addition, improved membrane characterization can lead to the advancement of membranes that have higher resistance to deterioration. For the PEM electrolysis concept to be industrialized and widely exploited, there are still several challenges and problems that need to be remedied.

## 5. Conclusion

Today, the energy transition to green hydrogen has become a priority in energy strategies around the world; it is an efficient and innovative solution that will ensure the decarbonization of the industrial sector and the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions that causes climate change. Throughout this work, we have discussed that hydrogen is the future of the energy sector, it is promising, clean, and sustainable energy. After overcoming the problem and the solution, we highlighted the application of the water electrolysis mechanism, especially PEMWE, for the manufacturing of green hydrogen.

Afterward, we explored the general operating principles of PEMWE including thermodynamics and electrochemical aspects as well as the performance of the electrolyzer, and then we defined the component of the PEM cell, their functioning, and their operating conditions, also the main advantages and disadvantages. The final part highlights the generality of proton exchange membranes where we explained the classification of each type according to composition and operational condition, transfer activities in the electrolyte, and types of degradation of the latter along with some perspectives and solutions proposed to avoid and prevent the degradation of the proton electrolyte membrane.

As a result of the exhaustion of fossil fuels, environmental regulations, and the implementation of renewable energy sources, it is anticipated that the PEMWE hydrogen generation process will change and become more efficient over time. However, the main obstacles and challenges to the industrialization of PEMWE technology are its cost, degradability, and durability.

The deterioration of the membrane is one of the main barriers preventing the growth of the PEMWE, in addition, the majority of the cost of the electrolysis cell is accounted for by the cost of the polymeric membrane.

## **CRedit authorship contribution statement**

Z. Hammi: Data curation; editing - original version; formal analysis.

N. Labjar: Analysis, methodology, supervision, and validation

E.M. Lotfi: Methodology and validation

S El. Hajjaji: Analysis, methodology, supervision, and validation

## Funding

No financial support was provided for this work.

## **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

#### References

- A. Bakhtyari, M. A. Makarem, and M. R. Rahimpour, "Hydrogen Production Through Pyrolysis," Encycl. Sustain. Sci. Technol., pp. 1–28, 2018, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-2493-6\_956-1.
- [2] D. Glushkov, G. Nyashina, A. Shvets, A. Pereira, and A. Ramanathan, "Current status of the pyrolysis and gasification mechanism of biomass," Energies, vol. 14, 7541, 2021, https://doi.org/10.3390/en14227541.
- [3] R. Sivaramakrishnan, S.Shanmugam, M.Sekar, T.Mathimani, A.Incharoensakdi, S. Kim, A.Parthiban, V.Edwin Geo, K.Brindhadevi, and A.Pugazhendhi, "Insights on biological hydrogen production routes and potential microorganisms for high hydrogen yield," Fuel, vol. 291, no. December 2020, p. 120136, 2021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2021.120136.
- [4] S. R. Das and N. Basak, "Molecular biohydrogen production by dark and photo fermentation from wastes containing starch: recent advancement and future perspective," Bioprocess Biosyst. Eng., vol. 44, no. 1, 2021, https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00449-020-02422-5.
- [5] L. Mosca, J.A. M. Jimenez, S. A. Wassie, F. Gallucci, E. Palo, M.Colozzi, S.Taraschi, and G. Galdieri, "Process design for green hydrogen production," Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, vol. 45, no. 12, pp. 7266–7277, 2020, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2019.08.206.
- [6] R. Amirante, E. Cassone, E. Distaso, and P. Tamburrano, "Overview on recent developments in energy storage: Mechanical, electrochemical and hydrogen technologies," Energy Convers. Manag., vol. 132, pp. 372–387, 2017, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2016.11.046.
- [7] M. Schalenbach, A. R. Zeradjanin, O. Kasian, S. Cherevko, and K. J. J. Mayrhofer, "A perspective on low-temperature water electrolysis – Challenges in alkaline and acidic technology," Int. J. Electrochem. Sci., vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 1173–1226, 2018, https://doi.org/10.20964/2018.02.26.
- [8] Y. Gao, Y.Mao, Z. Song, X. Zhao, J.Sun, W.Wang, G.Chen, S. Chen, "Efficient generation of hydrogen by two-step thermochemical cycles: Successive thermal reduction and water splitting reactions using equalpower microwave irradiation and a high entropy material," Appl. Energy, vol. 279, no. August, p. 115777, 2020, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2020.115777.
- [9] C. Sattler, M. Roeb, C. Agrafiotis, and D. Thomey, "Solar hydrogen production via sulphur based thermochemical water-splitting," Sol. Energy, vol. 156, pp. 30–47, 2017, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.solener.2017.05.060.
- [10] R. S. El-Emam, H. Ozcan, and C. Zamfirescu, "Updates on promising thermochemical cycles for clean hydrogen production using nuclear energy," J. Clean. Prod., vol. 262, no. 2020, 2020, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.121424.
- [11] L.Fatiha, Production d'hydrogène par cycles thermochimiques : procédés en cours de développement, Division Hydrogène - Energie Renouvelable - CDER no. 1, pp. 2–3.

https://www.cder.dz/vlib/bulletin/pdf/ber30\_2\_3.pdf

- [12] S. Shiva Kumar and V. Himabindu, "Hydrogen production by PEM water electrolysis – A review," Mater. Sci. Energy Technol., vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 442–454, 2019, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mset.2019.03.002.
- [13] M. Nasser, T. F. Megahed, S. Ookawara, and H. Hassan, "A review of water electrolysis-based systems for hydrogen production using hybrid/solar/wind energy systems," Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res., vol. 29, no. 58, pp. 86994–87018, 2022, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-022-23323-y.
- [14] H. Kojima, K. Nagasawa, N. Todoroki, Y. Ito, T. Matsui, and R. Nakajima, "Influence of renewable energy power fluctuations on water electrolysis for green hydrogen production," Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, vol. 48, no. 12, pp. 4572–4593, 2022, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2022.11.018.
- [15] M. Wappler, D. Unguder, X. Lu, H. Ohlmeyer, H. Teschke, and W. Lueke, "Building the green hydrogen market Current state and outlook on green hydrogen demand and electrolyzer manufacturing," Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, vol. 47, no. 79, pp. 33551–33570, 2022, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2022.07.253.

- [16] M. Kheirrouz, F. Melino, and M. A. Ancona, "Fault detection and diagnosis methods for green hydrogen production: A review," Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, vol. 47, no. 65, pp. 27747–27774, 2022, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2022.06.115.
- [17] H. Nami, O. B. Rizvandi, C. Chatzichristodoulou, P. V. Hendriksen, and H. L. Frandsen, "Techno-economic analysis of current and emerging electrolysis technologies for green hydrogen production," Energy Convers. Manag., vol. 269, no. July, p. 116162, 2022, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2022.116162.
- [18] Y. Chen, J. Liu, and L. Feng, "Transient analysis of a green hydrogen production and storage system using Alkaline electrolyzer," Fuel, vol. 324, no. PC, p. 124752, 2022, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2022.124752.
- [19] M. N. I. Salehmin, T. Husaini, J. Goh, and A. B. Sulong, "High-pressure PEM water electrolyser: A review on challenges and mitigation strategies towards green and low-cost hydrogen production," Energy Convers. Manag., vol. 268, no. July, p. 115985, 2022, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2022.115985.
- [20] D. Henkensmeier, M. Najibah, C. Harms, J. Žitka, J. Hnát, and K. Bouzek, "Overview: State-of-the-Art Commercial Membranes for Anion Exchange Membrane Water Electrolysis," J. Electrochem. Energy Convers. Storage, vol. 18, no. 2, 2021, https://doi.org/10.1115/1.4047963.
- [21] M. Mohebali Nejadian, P. Ahmadi, and E. Houshfar, "Comparative optimization study of three novel integrated hydrogen production systems with SOEC, PEM, and alkaline electrolyzer," Fuel, vol. 336, no. December 2022, p. 126835, 2023, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2022.126835.
- [22] Z. Ma, L. Witteman, J. A. Wrubel, and G. Bender, "A comprehensive modeling method for proton exchange membrane electrolyzer development," Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, vol. 46, no. 34, pp. 17627– 17643, 2021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2021.02.170.
- [23] H. P. C. Buitendach, R. Gouws, C. A. Martinson, C. Minnaar, and D. Bessarabov, "Effect of a ripple current on the efficiency of a PEM electrolyser," Results Eng., vol. 10, no. December 2020, 2021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rineng.2021.100216.
- [24] H. Nguyen, C. Klose, L. Metzler, S. Vierrath, and M. Breitwieser, "Fully Hydrocarbon Membrane Electrode Assemblies for Proton Exchange Membrane Fuel Cells and Electrolyzers: An Engineering Perspective," Adv. Energy Mater., vol. 12, no. 12, 2022, https://doi.org/10.1002/aenm.202103559.
- [25] Y. Chen, C. Liu, J. Xu, C. Xia, P. Wang, B.Y. Xia, Y. Yan, X.Wang, "Key Components and Design Strategy for a Proton Exchange Membrane Water Electrolyzer," Small Struct., p. 2200130, 2022, https://doi.org/10.1002/sstr.202200130.
- [26] A. Faes, J-M. Fuerbringer, D. Mohamedi, A. Hessler-Wyser, G. Caboche, J. Van Herle. Design of experiment approach applied to reducing and oxidizing tolerance of anode-supported solid oxide fuel cell. Part I: Microstructure optimization. J. Power Sources 196, 7058-7069 (2016).
- [27] J. I. S. Cho, I. Dedigama, D. Tsaoulidis, P. Shearing, and D. J. L. Brett, "Two-phase flow behaviour and performance of polymer electrolyte membrane electrolysers: Electrochemical and optical characterisation," International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, vol. 43, no. 33, pp. 15659– 15672, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2018.07.003.
- [28] M. Pan, C. Pan, C. Li, and J. Zhao, "A review of membranes in proton exchange membrane fuel cells: Transport phenomena, performance, and durability," Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev., vol. 141, no. January, p. 110771, 2021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2021.110771.
- [29] R. B. Ferreira, D. S. Falcão, V. B. Oliveira, and A. M. F. R. Pinto, "Experimental study on the membrane electrode assembly of a proton exchange membrane fuel cell: effects of microporous layer, membrane thickness, and gas diffusion layer hydrophobic treatment," Electrochim. Acta, vol. 224, pp. 337–345, 2017, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2016.12.074.
- [30] S. Zhou, L. Fan, G.Zhang, J. Gao, Y. Lu, P.Zhao, C. Wen, L.Shi and Z.Hu, "A review on proton exchange membrane multi-stack fuel cell systems: architecture, performance, and power management," Appl. Energy, vol. 310, no. January, p. 118555, 2022, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2022.118555.
- [31] A. Makhsoos, M. Kandidayeni, B. G. Pollet, and L. Boulon, "A perspective on increasing the efficiency of proton exchange membrane water electrolyzers- a review," Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, no. 51, 2022, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2023.01.048.
- [32] X. Sun, S. C. Simonsen, T. Norby, and A. Chatzitakis, "Composite membranes for high-temperature PEM fuel cells and electrolysers: A

critical review," Membranes (Basel)., vol. 9, no. 7, 2019, https://doi.org/10.3390/membranes9070083.

- [33] C.Tanios, S.Bsaibes, C. Gennequin, M. Labaki, F.Cazier, S.Billet,H. L.Tidahy, B.Nsouli, A.Aboukai, E. Abi-Aad, "Syngas production by the CO2 reforming of CH4 over Ni-Co-Mg-Al catalysts obtained from hydrotalcite precursors," Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, vol. 42, no. 17, pp. 12818–12828, 2017, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2017.01.120.
- [34] Zhang, J., Zhang, H., Wu, J., & Zhang, J. (2013). PEM Fuel Cell Fundamentals. Pem Fuel Cell Testing and Diagnosis, 1–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-444-53688-4.00001-2
- [35] C. S. Gittleman, F. D. Coms, and Y. H. Lai, Membrane Durability: Physical and Chemical Degradation, no. January 2011. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-386936-4.10002-8.
- [36] K. Ayers, "The potential of proton exchange membrane-based electrolysis technology," Curr. Opin. Electrochem., vol. 18, pp. 9–15, 2019, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coelec.2019.08.008.
- [37] Q. Feng, X.Z.Yuan, G.Liu, B.Wei, Z.Zhang, H.Li, Haijiang Wang, "A review of proton exchange membrane water electrolysis on degradation mechanisms and mitigation strategies," J. Power Sources, vol. 366, pp. 33–55, 2017, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2017.09.006.
- [38] A. Ozden, S. Shahgaldi, X. Li, and F. Hamdullahpur, "A review of gas diffusion layers for proton exchange membrane fuel cells—With a focus on characteristics, characterization techniques, materials, and designs," Prog. Energy Combust. Sci., vol. 74, pp. 50–102, 2019, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pecs.2019.05.002.
- [39] Z. Kang, S. M. Alia, J. L. Young, and G. Bender, "Effects of various parameters of different porous transport layers in proton exchange membrane water electrolysis," Electrochim. Acta, vol. 354, p. 136641, 2020, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2020.136641.
- [40] Z. Bao, Y. Li, X. Zhou, F. Gao, Q. Du, and K. Jiao, "Transport properties of gas diffusion layer of proton exchange membrane fuel cells: Effects of compression," Int. J. Heat Mass Transf., vol. 178, p. 121608, 2021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2021.121608.
- [41] Q. Chen, Z. Niu, H. Li, K. Jiao, and Y. Wang, "Recent progress of gas diffusion layer in proton exchange membrane fuel cell: Two-phase flow and material properties," Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, vol. 46, no. 12, pp. 8640–8671, 2021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2020.12.076.
- [42] M. Sarker, M. A. Rahman, F. Mojica, S. Mehrazi, W. J. M. Kort-Kamp, and P. Y. A. Chuang, "Experimental and computational study of the microporous layer and hydrophobic treatment in the gas diffusion layer of a proton exchange membrane fuel cell," J. Power Sources, vol. 509, no. May, p. 230350, 2021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2021.230350.
- [43] K. Xiong, W. Wu, S. Wang, and L. Zhang, "Modeling, design, materials and fabrication of bipolar plates for proton exchange membrane fuel cell: A review," Appl. Energy, vol. 301, no. January, p. 117443, 2021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2021.117443.
- [44] Y. Song, C. Zhang, C.Y. Ling, M. Han, R.Y. Yong, D. Sun, J. Chen, "Review on current research of materials, fabrication, and application for bipolar plate in proton exchange membrane fuel cell," Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, vol. 45, no. 54, pp. 29832–29847, 2020, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2019.07.231.
- [45] M. Sánchez-Molina, E. Amores, N. Rojas, and M. Kunowsky, "Additive manufacturing of bipolar plates for hydrogen production in proton exchange membrane water electrolysis cells," Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, vol. 46, no. 79, pp. 38983–38991, 2021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2021.09.152.
- [46] T. Wilberforce, Z.E.Hassan, E.Ogungbemi, O. Ijaodola, F.N. Khatib, A. Durrant, J. Thompson, A. Baroutaji, A.G. Olabi, "A comprehensive study of the effect of bipolar plate (BP) geometry design on the performance of proton exchange membrane (PEM) fuel cells," Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev., vol. 111, no. April, pp. 236–260, 2019, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.04.081.
- [47] T.Wilberforce, O. Ijaodola, E. Ogungbemi, F.N. Khatib, T. Leslie, Z.El. Hassan, J. Thompson, A.G. Olabi, "Technical evaluation of proton exchange membrane (PEM) fuel cell performance – A review of the effects of bipolar plates coating," Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev., vol. 113, no. September 2018, p. 109286, 2019, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.109286.
- [48] A. Tang, L. Crisci, L. Bonville, and J. Jankovic, "An overview of bipolar plates in proton exchange membrane fuel cells," J. Renew. Sustain. Energy, vol. 13, no. 2, 2021, https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0031447.
- [49] T. Wilberforce, O. Ijaodola, A. Baroutaji, E. Ogungbemi, and A. G. Olabi, "Effect of Bipolar Plate Material on Proton Exchange Membrane

Fuel Cell Performance," Energies, vol. 15, no. 5, pp. 1–15, 2022, https://doi.org/10.3390/en15051886.

- [50] F. Fouda-Onana, M. Chandesris, V. Médeau, S. Chelghoum, D. Thoby, and N. Guillet, "Investigation on the degradation of MEAs for PEM water electrolysers part I: Effects of testing conditions on MEA performances and membrane properties," Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, vol. 41, no. 38, pp. 16627–16636, 2016, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2016.07.125.
- [51] J. Durst, A. Siebel, C. Simon, F. Hasché, J. Herranz, and H. A. Gasteiger, "New insights into the electrochemical hydrogen oxidation and evolution reaction mechanism," Energy Environ. Sci., vol. 7, no. 7, pp. 2255–2260, 2014, https://doi.org/10.1039/c4ee00440j.
- [52] P. Lettenmeier, S. Kolb, F. Burggraf, A. S. Gago, and K. A. Friedrich, "Towards developing a backing layer for proton exchange membrane electrolyzers," J. Power Sources, vol. 311, pp. 153–158, 2016, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2016.01.100.
- [53] Z. Kang, S.Yu, G.Yang, Y. Li, G.Bender, B. S. Pivovar, J. B. Green Jr, F.Y.Zhang, "Performance improvement of proton exchange membrane electrolyzer cells by introducing in-plane transport enhancement layers," Electrochim. Acta, vol. 316, pp. 43–51, 2019, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2019.05.096.
- [54] A. A. AlZahrani and I. Dincer, "Thermodynamic and electrochemical analyses of a solid oxide electrolyzer for hydrogen production," Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, vol. 42, no. 33, pp. 21404–21413, 2017, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2017.03.186.
- [55] Anantharaj, S.Ede, S.R. Karthick, K S.Sankar, S.Sangeetha, K.Karthik, P.E.Kundu, Precision and correctness in the evaluation of electrocatalytic water splitting: Revisiting activity parameters with a critical assessment. Energy Environ. Sci. 2018, 11, 744–771
- [56] X. Sun, K. Xu, C. Fleischer, X. Liu, M. Grandcolas, R. Strandbakke, T.S. Bjorheim, T.Norby, and A.Chatzitakis, "Earth-abundant electrocatalysts in proton exchange membrane electrolyzers," Catalysts, vol. 8, no. 12, 2018, https://doi.org/10.3390/catal8120657.
- [57] Bessarabov, D.; Wang, H.; Li, H.; Zhao, N. PEM Electrolysis for Hydrogen Production: Principles and Applications, 1st ed.; Taylor & Francis: Boca Raton, FL, USA, 2015; ISBN 9781482252323.
- [58] S. Shiva Kumar and V. Himabindu, "Hydrogen production by PEM water electrolysis – A review," Mater. Sci. Energy Technol., vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 442–454, 2019, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mset.2019.03.002.
- [59] B. Bensmann, R. Hanke-Rauschenbach, and K. Sundmacher, "In-situ measurement of hydrogen crossover in polymer electrolyte membrane water electrolysis," Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 49–53, 2014, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2013.10.085.
- [60] A. Martin, P. Trinke, B. Bensmann, and R. Hanke-Rauschenbach, " Hydrogen Crossover in PEM Water Electrolysis at Current Densities up to 10 A cm<sup>-2</sup>," J. Electrochem. Soc., vol. 169, no. 9, p. 094507, 2022, https://doi.org/10.1149/1945-7111/ac908c.
- [61] J. A. Wrubel, C. Milleville, E. Klein, J. Zack, A. M. Park, and G. Bender, "Estimating the energy requirement for hydrogen production in proton exchange membrane electrolysis cells using rapid operando hydrogen crossover analysis," Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, vol. 47, no. 66, pp. 28244– 28253, 2022, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2022.06.155.
- [62] S. Li, X. Wei, H. Yuan, P. Ming, X. Wang, and H. Dai, "A galvanostatic charging method for quantitative measurements of hydrogen crossover in fuel cell stack," Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, vol. 47, no. 92, pp. 39225– 39238, 2022, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2022.09.080.
- [63] S. Stiber, N. Sata, T. Morawietz, S. A. Ansar, T. Jahnke, J. K. Lee, A. Bazylak, A. Fallisch, A. S. Gago and K. A. Friedrich, "A high-performance, durable and low-cost proton exchange membrane electrolyser with stainless steel components," Energy Environ. Sci., vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 109–122, 2022, https://doi.org/10.1039/d1ee02112e.
- [64] A. S. Aricò, S. Siracusano, N. Briguglio, V. Baglio, A. Di Blasi, and V. Antonucci, "Polymer electrolyte membrane water electrolysis: Status of technologies and potential applications in combination with renewable power sources," J. Appl. Electrochem., vol. 43, no. 2, pp. 107–118, 2013, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10800-012-0490-5.
- [65] S. Siracusano, V. Baglio, A. Stassi, L. Merlo, E. Moukheiber, and A. S. Arico', "Performance analysis of short-side-chain Aquivion® perfluorosulfonic acid polymer for proton exchange membrane water electrolysis," J. Memb. Sci., vol. 466, pp. 1–7, 2014, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2014.04.030.
- [66] A. Bazarah, E.H.Majlan, T.Husaini, A.M. Zainoodin, I. Alshami, J.Goh, M. S. Masdar, "Factors influencing the performance and durability of polymer electrolyte membrane water electrolyzer: A review," Int. J.

Hydrogen Energy, vol. 47, no. 85, pp. 35976–35989, 2022, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2022.08.180.

- [67] O. N. Primachenko, E. A. Marinenko, A. S. Odinokov, S. V. Kononova, Y. V. Kulvelis, and V. T. Lebedev, "State of the art and prospects in the development of proton-conducting perfluorinated membranes with short side chains: A review," Polym. Adv. Technol., vol. 32, no. 4, pp. 1386– 1408, 2021, https://doi.org/10.1002/pat.5191.
- [68] X.Liu, X.Luo, X.Chen, S. Zou, X.Liu, J.Li, H.Li, D.Dong, "Perfluorinated membrane electrode assembly containing metal-freecatalyst cathode for anion exchange membrane fuel cells," J. Electroanal. Chem., vol. 871, p. 114283, 2020, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelechem.2020.114283.
- [69] P. C. Okonkwo, I. Ben Belgacem, W. Emori, and P. C. Uzoma, "Nafion degradation mechanisms in proton exchange membrane fuel cell (PEMFC) system: A review," Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, vol. 46, no. 55, pp. 27956–27973, 2021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2021.06.032.
- [70] Abdol Rahim, A. H.; Tijani, A. S.; Kamarudin, S. K.; Hanapi, S. An overview of polymer electrolyte membrane electrolyzer for hydrogen production modeling and mass transport. Journal of Power Sources 2016, 309, 56–65.
- [71] J.Han, K.Kimb, J.Kima, S.Kima, S.W.Choic, H.Lee, J.J.Kim, T.H. Kim, Y.E. Sung, J.C. Lee, "Cross-linked highly sulfonated poly(arylene ether sulfone) membranes prepared by in-situ casting and thiol-ene click reaction for fuel cell application," J. Memb. Sci., vol. 579, no. February, pp. 70–78, 2019, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2019.02.048.
- [72] S.Subianto, M.Pica, M.Casciola, P. Cojocaru, L.Merlo, G.Hards, D.J. Jones, "Physical and chemical modification routes leading to improved mechanical properties of perfluorosulfonic acid membranes for PEM fuel cells," J. Power Sources, vol. 233, pp. 216–230, 2013, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2012.12.121.
- [73] M.Robert , A.Kaddouri, J.C. Perrin, K.Mozet, M. Daoudi, J. Dillet, J.Y. Morel, S. Andre, and O.Lottin, "Effects of conjoint mechanical and chemical stress on perfluoro sulfonic-acid membranes for fuel cells," J. Power Sources, vol. 476, 2020, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2020.228662.
- [74] D. Aili, M.K. Hansen, C. Pan, Q. Li, E. Christensen, J. O. Jensen, N. J. Bjerrum, "Phosphoric acid doped membranes based on Nafion®, PBI and their blends - Membrane preparation, characterization, and steam electrolysis testing," Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, vol. 36, no. 12, pp. 6985– 6993, 2011, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2011.03.058.
- [75] A. Albert, A. O. Barnett, M. S. Thomassen, T. J. Schmidt, and L. Gubler, "Radiation-Grafted Polymer Electrolyte Membranes for Water Electrolysis Cells: Evaluation of Key Membrane Properties," ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, vol. 7, no. 40, pp. 22203–22212, 2015, https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.5b04618.
- [76] K. Miyatake, Encyclopedia of Sustainability Science and Technology. 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-2493-6.
- [77] C. Rozain and P. Millet, "Electrochemical characterization of Polymer Electrolyte Membrane Water Electrolysis Cells," Electrochim. Acta, vol. 131, pp. 160–167, 2014, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2014.01.099.
- [78] A. Martin, P. Trinke, M. Stähler, A. Stähler, F. Scheepers, B. Bensmann, M. Carmo, W. Lehnert and R. H. Rauschenbach, "The Effect of Cell Compression and Cathode Pressure on Hydrogen Crossover in PEM Water Electrolysis," J. Electrochem. Soc., vol. 169, no. 1, p. 014502, 2022, https://doi.org/10.1149/1945-7111/ac4459.
- [79] R.Borup, J.Meyers, B.Pivovar, Y.S.Kim, R.Mukundan, N.Garland, D.Myers, M.Wilson, F.Garzon, D.Wood, P.Zelenay, K.More, K.Stroh, T.Zawodzinski, J.Boncella, J. E. McGrath, M.Inaba, K.Miyatake, M.Hori, K.Ota, Z.Ogumi, S.Miyata, A.Nishikata, Z.Siroma, Y.Uchimoto, K. Yasuda, K.I.Kimijima, and N.Iwashita, Scientific aspects of polymer electrolyte fuel cell durability and degradation. Chem Rev 107:3904– 3951.
- [80] Aili, D., Jensen, J. O., & Li, Q. (2016). Polybenzimidazole Membranes by Post Acid Doping. High-Temperature Polymer Electrolyte Membrane Fuel Cells, 195–215. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-17082-4\_9.
- [81] M.K.Hansen, D.Aili, E. Christensen, C. Pan, S.Eriksen, J.O.Jensen, J.H.V Barner, Q.L, N.J. Bjerrum "PEM steam electrolysis at 130°C using a phosphoric acid doped short side chain PFSA membrane," Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, vol. 37, no. 15, pp. 10992–11000, 2012, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2012.04.125.
- [82] H. Lade, V. Kumar, G. Arthanareeswaran, and A. F. Ismail, "Sulfonated poly(arylene ether sulfone) nanocomposite electrolyte membrane for fuel cell applications: A review," Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, vol. 42, no. 2, pp. 1063–1074, 2017, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2016.10.038.
- [83] Ngamsantivongsa P, Lin H-L, Leon Yu T. Properties and Fuel Cell Applications of Polybenzimidazole and Ethyl Phosphoric Acid Grafted

Polybenzimidazole Blend Membranes[J]. J. Membr. Sci., 2015, 491: 10-21.

- [84] L.Qingting, N.Na, S.Quan, W. Xiaoxue, B.Xujin, F. Zhang, Z.Rong, H.Shengfei, Z.Feng, L.Xiao, "Poly(2,5-benzimidazole)/trisilanolphenyl POSS composite membranes for intermediate temperature PEM fuel cells," J. Wuhan Univ. Technol. Mater. Sci. Ed., vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 212– 220, 2018, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11595-018-1808-x.
- [85] A. Parekh, "Recent developments of proton exchange membranes for PEMFC: A review," Front. Energy Res., vol. 10, no. September, 2022, https://doi.org/10.3389/fenrg.2022.956132.
- [86] J. Miyake, T. Watanabe, H. Shintani, Y. Sugawara, M. Uchida, and K. Miyatake, "Reinforced Polyphenylene Ionomer Membranes Exhibiting High Fuel Cell Performance and Mechanical Durability," ACS Mater. Au, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 81–88, 2021, https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmaterialsau.1c00002.
- [87] R. Vinodh, R. Atchudan, K. Hee-Je, and Y. Moonsuk, "Recent Advancements in Polysulfone Based Membranes for," Polymers (Basel)., 2022.
- [88] J. Kim and A. Ohira, "Crosslinked sulfonated polyphenylsulfone (Csppsu) membranes for elevated-temperature pem water electrolysis," Membranes (Basel)., vol. 11, no. 11, 2021, https://doi.org/10.3390/membranes11110861.
- [89] V. B. Silva and A. Rouboa, "An activation procedure applied to fluorinated and non-fluorinated proton exchange membranes," Fuel Process. Technol., vol. 103, pp. 27–33, 2012, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuproc.2011.12.042.
- [90] D. Gupta and V. Choudhary, "Non-fluorinated hybrid composite membranes based on polyethylene glycol functionalized polyhedral oligomeric silsesquioxane [PPOSS] and sulfonated poly(ether ether ketone) [SPEEK] for fuel cell applications," React. Funct. Polym., vol. 73, no. 9, pp. 1268–1280, 2013, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reactfunctpolym.2013.06.002.
- [91] N. Esmaeili, E. M. A. Gray, and C. J. Webb, "Non-Fluorinated Polymer Composite Proton Exchange Membranes for Fuel Cell Applications – A Review," ChemPhysChem, vol. 20, no. 16, pp. 2016–2053, 2019, https://doi.org/10.1002/cphc.201900191.
- [92] J. A. Shahrukh Shamim, K. Sudhakar, Brajesh Choudhary, "A review on recent advances in proton exchange membrane fuel cells: Materials, technology, and applications," Adv. Appl. Sci. Res., vol. 6, no. March 2016, pp. 89–100, 2015.
- [93] J.Richard, F.Haidar, M.K. Alzamora, M.Maréchal, N.Rovira, C.Vacquier, C. Sanchez, and C.L.Robert, "Advanced Functional Hybrid Proton Exchange Membranes Robust and Conductive at 120 °C," Adv. Mater. Interfaces, no. December 2022, https://doi.org/10.1002/admi.202201601.
- [94] Miculescu, M., Thakur, V. K., Miculescu, F., & Voicu, S. I. (2016). Graphene-based polymer nanocomposite membranes: a review. Polymers for Advanced Technologies, 27(7), 844–859. https://doi.org/10.1002/pat.3751.
- [95] L. Zhang, S. R. Chae, S. Lin, and M. R. Wiesner, "Proton-conducting composite membranes derived from ferroxane-polyvinyl alcohol complex," Environ. Eng. Sci., vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 124–132, 2012, https://doi.org/10.1089/ees.2011.0270.
- [96] G.Zhao, H.Zhao, X.Zhuang, L. Shi, B.Cheng, X. Xu, Y.Yi, "Nanofiber hybrid membranes: progress and application in proton exchange membranes," J. Mater. Chem. A, vol. 9, no. 7, pp. 3729–3766, 2021, https://doi.org/10.1039/d0ta11014k.
- [97] E. Abouzari-Lotf, M. Etesami, and M. M. Nasef, Carbon-based nanocomposite proton exchange membranes for fuel cells. Elsevier Inc., 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-813574-7.00018-6.
- [98] L. Ding, T. Tang, and J. S. Hu, "Recent progress in proton-exchange membrane fuel cells based on metal-nitrogen-carbon catalysts," Wuli Huaxue Xuebao/ Acta Phys. - Chim. Sin., vol. 37, no. 9, 2021, https://doi.org/10.3866/PKU.WHXB202010048.
- [99] R. P. Pandey, G. Shukla, M. Manohar, and V. K. Shahi, "Graphene oxide-based nanohybrid proton exchange membranes for fuel cell applications: An overview," Adv. Colloid Interface Sci., vol. 240, pp. 15–30, 2017, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cis.2016.12.003.
- [100] D. J. Kim, M. J. Jo, and S. Y. Nam, "A review of polymernanocomposite electrolyte membranes for fuel cell application," J. Ind. Eng. Chem., vol. 21, pp. 36–52, 2015, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiec.2014.04.030.
- [101] C. Vilela, A. J. D. Silvestre, F. M. L. Figueiredo, and C. S. R. Freire, "Nanocellulose-based materials as components of polymer electrolyte fuel cells," J. Mater. Chem. A, vol. 7, no. 35, pp. 20045–20074, 2019, https://doi.org/10.1039/c9ta07466j.

- [102] O. Selyanchyn, R. Selyanchyn, and S. M. Lyth, "A Review of Proton Conductivity in Cellulosic Materials," Front. Energy Res., vol. 8, no. December 2020, https://doi.org/10.3389/fenrg.2020.596164.
- [103] T. Bayera, B. V. Cunninga, R.Selyanchyna, M.Nishiharaa, S. Fujikawaa, K. Sasakia, S.M. Lyth, "High-temperature proton conduction in nanocellulose membranes: Paper fuel cells," Chem. Mater., vol. 28, no. 13, pp. 4805–4814, 2016, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemmater.6b01990.
- [104] M. Hosseinpour, M. Sahoo, M. Perez-Page, S. R. Baylis, F. Patel, and S. M. Holmes, "Improving the performance of direct methanol fuel cells by implementing multilayer membranes blended with cellulose nanocrystals," Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, vol. 44, no. 57, pp. 30409–30419, 2019, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2019.09.194.
- [105] W. C. Tsen, "Composite proton exchange membranes based on chitosan and phosphotungstic acid immobilized one-dimensional attapulgite for direct methanol fuel cells," Nanomaterials, vol. 10, no. 9, pp. 1–15, 2020, https://doi.org/10.3390/nano10091641.
- [106] P. N. De Oliveira and A. M. M. Mendes, "Preparation and characterization of an eco-friendly polymer electrolyte membrane (PEM) Based in a Blend of Sulphonated Poly(Vinyl Alcohol)/Chitosan Mechanically Stabilised by Nylon 6,6," Mater. Res., vol. 19, no. 4, pp. 954–962, 2016, https://doi.org/10.1590/1980-5373-MR-2016-0387.
- [107] A. Hambardzumyan, J. Tritt-Goc, L. Lindner, M. Bielejewski and E. Markiewicz "Nafion membranes reinforced by cellulose nanocrystals for fuel cell applications: aspect ratio and heat treatment effects on physical properties," J. Mater. Sci., vol. 57, no. 7, pp. 4684–4703, 2022, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10853-022-06921-6.
- [108] O. Selyanchyn, T. Bayer, D. Klotz, R. Selyanchyn, K. Sasaki, and S. M. Lyth, "Cellulose Nanocrystals Crosslinked with Sulfosuccinic Acid as Sustainable Proton Exchange Membranes for Electrochemical Energy Applications," Membranes (Basel)., vol. 12, no. 7, 2022, https://doi.org/10.3390/membranes12070658.
- [109] J. M. Gohil and K. Dutta, "Structures and properties of polymers in ion exchange membranes for hydrogen generation by water electrolysis," Polym. Adv. Technol., vol. 32, no. 12, pp. 4598–4615, 2021, https://doi.org/10.1002/pat.5482.
- [110] A. H. Abdol Rahim, A. S. Tijani, S. K. Kamarudin, and S. Hanapi, "An overview of polymer electrolyte membrane electrolyzer for hydrogen production: Modeling and mass transport," J. Power Sources, vol. 309, pp. 56–65, 2016, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2016.01.012.
- [111] J. Fimrite, H. Struchtrup, and N. Djilali, "Transport Phenomena in Polymer Electrolyte Membranes," J. Electrochem. Soc., vol. 152, no. 9, p. A1804, 2015, https://doi.org/10.1149/1.1952627.
- [112] R. S. Fu, J.S. Preston, U. Pasaogullari, T.Shiomi, S. Miyazaki, Y. Tabuchi, D. S. Hussey, and D. L. Jacobson, "Water Transport Across a Polymer Electrolyte Membrane under Thermal Gradients," J. Electrochem. Soc., vol. 158, no. 3, p. B303, 2011, https://doi.org/10.1149/1.3530794.
- [113] K. Jiao and X. Li, "Water transport in polymer electrolyte membrane fuel cells," Prog. Energy Combust. Sci., vol. 37, no. 3, pp. 221–291, 2011, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pecs.2010.06.002.
- M. Saito, K. Hayamizu, and T. Okada, "Temperature dependence of ion and water transport in perfluorinated ionomer membranes for fuel cells," J. Phys. Chem. B, vol. 109, no. 8, pp. 3112–3119, 2005, https://doi.org/10.1021/jp045624w.
- [115] F. Xu, S. Leclerc, D. Stemmelen, J. C. Perrin, A. Retournard, and D. Canet, "Study of electro-osmotic drag coefficients in Nafion membrane in acid, sodium, and potassium forms by electrophoresis NMR," J. Memb. Sci., vol. 536, pp. 116–122, 2017, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2017.04.067.
- [116] E. J. F. Dickinson and G. Smith, "Modelling the proton-conductive membrane in practical polymer electrolyte membrane fuel cell (Pemfc) simulation: A review," Membranes (Basel)., vol. 10, no. 11, pp. 1–53, 2020, https://doi.org/10.3390/membranes10110310.
- [117] D. M. Bernardi and M. W. Verbrugge, "Mathematical model of a gas diffusion electrode bonded to a polymer electrolyte," AIChE J., vol. 37, no. 8, pp. 1151–1163, 2015, https://doi.org/10.1002/aic.690370805.
- [118] Q. He, A. Kusoglu, I. T. Lucas, K. Clark, A. Z. Weber, and R. Kostecki, "Correlating humidity-dependent ionically conductive surface area with transport phenomena in proton-exchange membranes," J. Phys. Chem. B, vol. 115, no. 40, pp. 11650–11657, 2011, https://doi.org/10.1021/jp206154y.
- [119] X.Z.Yuan, C.N.Coynel, N. Shaigan, D.Fisher, N. Zhao, N. Zamel, P.Gazdzicki, M.Ulsh, K. A. Friedrich, F.Girard and U. Groos, "A review of functions, attributes, properties and measurements for the quality control of proton exchange membrane fuel cell components," J. Power

Sources, vol. 491, pp. 1–127, 2021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2021.229540.

- [120] K.G. Angelova, V. Edreva, A.Hussain, P. Skrzypacz, L.Tobiska, A.S. Morgenstern, E. Tsotsas, and J.Schmidt, "Transport Phenomena in Porous Membranes and Membrane Reactors," in Membrane Reactors: Distributing Reactants to Improve Selectivity and Yield, 2017, pp. 85– 132. https://doi.org/10.1002/9783527629725.ch4.
- [121] S. N. Suarez, J. R. P. Jayakody, S. G. Greenbaum, T. Zawodzinski, and J. J. Fontanella, "A fundamental study of the transport properties of aqueous superacid solutions," J. Phys. Chem. B, vol. 114, no. 27, pp. 8941–8947, 2018, https://doi.org/10.1021/jp909572q.
- [122] S. Tsushima and S. Hirai, "In situ diagnostics for water transport in proton exchange membrane fuel cells," Prog. Energy Combust. Sci., vol. 37, no. 2, pp. 204–220, 2015, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pecs.2015.06.001.
- [123] Yoshizawa K, Ikezoe K, Tasaki Y, Kramer D, Lehmann EH, Scherer GG. Analysis of gas diffusion layer and flow-field design in a PEMFC using neutron radiography. J Electrochem Soc 2014;155:B223e7
- [124] Y. Rahim, Characterization of High-Temperature Polymer Electrolyte Fuel Cells, vol. 437. 2018. https://doi.org/10.18154/RWTH-2018-229149.
- [125] F.N. Khatiba, T.Wilberforcea, O.Ijaodolaa, E.Ogungbemia, Z.E.Hassana, A. Durranta, J. Thompsona, A.G. Olabi, "Material degradation of components in polymer electrolyte membrane (PEM)electrolytic cell and mitigation mechanisms: A review," Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev., vol. 111, no. May, pp. 1–14, 2019, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.05.007.
- [126] T. Kinumoto, M. Inaba, Y.Nakayama, K. Ogata, R. Umebayashi, A, Tasaka, Y. Iriyama, T. Abe, Z. Ogumi, "Durability of perfluorinated ionomer membrane against hydrogen peroxide," J. Power Sources, vol. 158, no. 2 SPEC. ISS., pp. 1222–1228, 2016, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.200.10.043.
- [127] T. Ishimoto and M. Koyama, "A review of molecular-level mechanism of membrane degradation in the polymer electrolyte fuel cell," Membranes (Basel)., vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 395–414, 2012, https://doi.org/10.3390/membranes2030395.
- [128] P. Frühwirt, A. Kregar, J. T. Törring, T. Katrašnik, and G. Gescheidt, "Holistic approach to chemical degradation of Nafion membranes in fuel cells: Modelling and predictions," Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys., vol. 22, no. 10, pp. 5647–5666, 2020, https://doi.org/10.1039/c9cp04986j.
- [129] M. Zatoń, J. Rozière, and D. J. Jones, "Current understanding of chemical degradation mechanisms of perfluorosulfonic acid membranes and their mitigation strategies: A review," Sustain. Energy Fuels, vol. 1, no. 3, pp. 409–438, 2017, https://doi.org/10.1039/c7se00038c.
- [130] F. D. Coms, "The Chemistry of Fuel Cell Membrane Chemical Degradation Frank D. Coms General Motors Corporation, Fuel Cell Research Labs, 10 Carriage Street, Honeoye Falls, NY 14472, USA," ECS Trans, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 235–255, 2018.
- [131] Y. Nosaka, K. Ohtaka, N. Ohguri, and A. Y. Nosaka, "Detection of OH Radicals Generated in Polymer Membranes of PEFC," ECS Meet. Abstr., vol. MA2010-02, no. 10, pp. 775–775, 2011, https://doi.org/10.1149/ma2010-02/10/775.
- [132] M. Chatenet, B.G.Pollet, D.R.Dekel, F. Dionigi, J. Deseure, P. Millet, R.D.Braatz, M. Z. Bazant, M. Eikerling, L.Staffell, P. Balcombe, Y. S.Horn, H. Schäfer, "Water electrolysis: from textbook knowledge to the latest scientific strategies and industrial developments," Chem. Soc. Rev., vol. 51, no. 11, pp. 4583–4762, 2022, https://doi.org/10.1039/d0cs01079k.
- [133] Y. Alqaheem and A. A. Alomair, Microscopy and spectroscopy techniques for characterization of polymeric membranes, vol. 10, no. 2. 2020. https://doi.org/10.3390/MEMBRANES10020033.
- [134] S. M. Nawale, M. M. Dlamini, and F. B. Weng, "Analyses of the Effects of Electrolyte and Electrode Thickness on High-Temperature Proton Exchange Membrane Fuel Cell (H-TPEMFC) Quality," Membranes (Basel)., vol. 13, no. 1, 2022, https://doi.org/10.3390/membranes13010012.
- [135] A. K. Azad, A. M. Abdalla, A. Afif, A. Azad, S.Afroze, A. C.Idris, J.Y. Park, M.Saqib, N.Radenahmad, S. Hossain, I. B. Elius, M. A.Mamun, J. Zaini, A. A.Hinai, Md. S. Reza and J. T. S. Irvine, "Improved mechanical strength, proton conductivity and power density in an 'all-protonic' ceramic fuel cell at intermediate temperature," Sci. Rep., vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 1–10, 2021, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-98987-6.
- [136] K.Zhang, X.Liang, L.Wang, K.Sun, Y.Wang, Z. Xie, Q.Wu, X. Bai, M.S. H.Chen and X.Zou, "Status and perspectives of key materials for PEM electrolyzer," Nano Res. Energy, vol. 1, no. 1, p. e9120032, 2022, https://doi.org/10.26599/nre.2022.9120032.